
 

 

     Ffôn/Tel: 01656 643643                                                   Facs/Fax: 01656 668126          Ebost/Email: talktous@bridgend.gov.uk                                                                                  

     Negeseuon SMS/ SMS Messaging: 07581 157014           Twitter@bridgendCBC              Gwefan/Website: www.bridgend.gov.uk 

Cyfnewid testun: Rhowch 18001 o flaen unrhyw un o’n rhifau ffon ar gyfer y gwasanaeth trosglwyddo testun 

Text relay: Put 18001 before any of our phone numbers for the text relay service 

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg. Rhowch wybod i ni os yw eich dewis iaith yw’r Gymraeg  
We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please let us know if your language choice is Welsh 

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. 
Rhowch wybod i ni os mai Cymraeg yw eich 

dewis iaith. 
We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please 
let us know if your language choice is Welsh. 

 

Cyfarwyddiaeth y Prif Weithredwr / Chief 
Executive’s Directorate  
Deialu uniongyrchol / Direct line /: 01656 643148 / 
643147 / 643694 
Gofynnwch am / Ask for:  Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd 
 
Ein cyf / Our ref:       
Eich cyf / Your ref:       
 
Dyddiad/Date: Dydd Iau, 24 Chwefror 2022 

 

Annwyl Cynghorydd,  
 
PWYLLGOR Y CABINET DROS FATERION RHIENI CORFFORAETHOL 
 
Cynhelir Cyfarfod  Pwyllgor Y Cabinet Dros Faterion Rhieni Corfforaethol O Bell Trwy Timau 
Microsoft ar Dydd Mercher, 2 Mawrth 2022 am 14:00. 
 
AGENDA 
 
1.  Ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb    

 Derbyn ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb gan Aelodau. 
 

2.  Datganiadau o fuddiant    
 Derbyn datganiadau o ddiddordeb personol a rhagfarnol (os o gwbl) gan Aelodau / 

Swyddogion yn unol â darpariaethau'r Cod Ymddygiad Aelodau a fabwysiadwyd gan y 
Cyngor o 1 Medi 2008.  
 

3.  Cymeradwyaeth Cofnodion   3 - 8 

 I dderbyn am gymeradwyaeth y Cofnodion cyfarfod y  14/10/2021 
 

4.  Diweddariad Ar Ailfodelu Gwasanaethau Preswyl Plant A Gwasanaeth Maethu 
Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr  
 

9 - 18 

5.  Adroddiad Gwasanaeth Adolygu Annibynnol (IRO)  
 

19 - 60 

6.  Tai ar gyfer Plant a Phobl Ifanc sydd wedi Profiad o Ofal  
 

61 - 74 

7.  Materion Brys    

 I ystyried unrhyw eitemau o fusnes y, oherwydd amgylchiadau arbennig y cadeirydd o'r farn 
y dylid eu hystyried yn y cyfarfod fel mater o frys yn unol â Rhan 4 (pharagraff 4) o'r 
Rheolau Trefn y Cyngor yn y Cyfansoddiad. 
 

Nodyn: Sylwch: Yn sgil yr angen i gadw pellter cymdeithasol, ni fydd y cyfarfod hwn yn cael ei 
gynnal yn ei leoliad arferol. Yn hytrach, bydd hwn yn gyfarfod rhithwir a bydd Aelodau a Swyddogion 
yn mynychu o bell. Bydd y cyfarfod yn cael ei recordio i’w ddarlledu ar wefan y Cyngor cyn gynted 
ag sy'n ymarferol ar ôl y cyfarfod. Os oes gennych unrhyw gwestiwn am hyn, cysylltwch â 
cabinet_committee@bridgend.gov.uk neu ffoniwch 01656 643147 / 643148. 

Public Document Pack

mailto:talktous@bridgend.gov.uk
http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


 
Yn ddiffuant 
K Watson 
Prif Swyddog, Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a Rheoleiddio, AD a Pholisi Corfforaethol 
 
Dosbarthiad: 
 
Cynghowrwyr Cynghorwyr Cynghorwyr 
SE Baldwin 
HJ David 
J Gebbie 
D Patel 

JC Radcliffe 
KL Rowlands 
CE Smith 
T Thomas 

DBF White 
AJ Williams 
HM Williams 



PWYLLGOR Y CABINET DROS FATERION RHIENI CORFFORAETHOL - DYDD IAU, 14 HYDREF 2021 

 
COFNODION CYFARFOD Y PWYLLGOR Y CABINET DROS FATERION RHIENI 
CORFFORAETHOL A GYNHALIWYD O BELL TRWY TIMAU MICROSOFT, DYDD IAU, 14 
HYDREF 2021, AM 14:00 

 
Presennol 

 
Y Cynghorydd   – Cadeirydd  

 
SE Baldwin HJ David J Gebbie D Patel 
CE Smith AJ Williams HM Williams  

 
Ymddiheuriadau am Absenoldeb 
 
NA Burnett a/ac PJ White 
 
Swyddogion: 
 
Nicola Echanis Pennaeth Addysg a Chymorth Cynnar 
Steven Howell Rheolwr Grwp, Y Gyfarwyddiaeth Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Lles 
Claire Marchant Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol - Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Lles 
Nichola Rogers Regional Adoption Services Manager - Western Bay Regional Adoption Service 
Mark Shephard Prif Weithredwr 

 
 

230. DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANT 
 
Dim 
 

231. CYMERADWYO'R COFNODION 
 
PENDERFYNWYD:  Bod cofnodion 08/04/2021 yn cael eu cymeradwyo fel 

cofnod cywir. 

 
232. MONITRO PERFFORMIAD A CHYNNYDD GWASANAETH MABWYSIADU 

RHANBARTHOL BAE'R GORLLEWIN 
 
Cyflwynodd y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol, Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Lles yr 
adroddiad a oedd yn rhoi'r wybodaeth ddiweddaraf am berfformiad a chynnydd 
Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Rhanbarthol Bae'r Gorllewin, gan gynnwys yr Adroddiad 
Blynyddol ar Ddangosyddion Perfformiad Rhanbarthol ar gyfer 2020/2021 sydd i'w weld 
yn Atodiad A. 
 
Rhoddodd gefndir i Wasanaeth Mabwysiadu Bae'r Gorllewin (WBAS) a Deddf 
Mabwysiadu a Phlant 2002. Ychwanegodd fod yr WBAS wedi'i integreiddio i'r 
Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol (NAS) fel un o'r pum cydweithrediad rhanbarthol 
a nodwyd. Rhestrwyd y nodau a nodir yn y cyfarwyddiadau yn 3.5 o'r adroddiad. Roedd 
rhagor o wybodaeth am y Bwrdd Llywodraethu, y Grŵp Cynghori a'r Cyfarwyddwr 
Gweithrediadau a'r Tîm Canolog yn 3.6 ymlaen o'r adroddiad.  
 
Eglurodd y Rheolwr Mabwysiadu Rhanbarthol fod yr WBAS wedi dod yn gwbl weithredol 
ym mis Ebrill 2015. Cyn hyn, darparwyd gwasanaethau mabwysiadu yn lleol drwy'r tri 
awdurdod lleol, Abertawe, Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr a Chastell-nedd Port Talbot. 
 
Roedd y gwasanaeth mabwysiadu rhanbarthol yn darparu amrywiaeth o wasanaethau 
ac ymyriadau ar draws y pum maes allweddol i'r rhai oedd wedi’u heffeithio gan 
fabwysiadu. Y rhain oedd: 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



PWYLLGOR Y CABINET DROS FATERION RHIENI CORFFORAETHOL - DYDD IAU, 14 HYDREF 2021 

 
 

 Asesu a chefnogi darpar fabwysiadwyr 
 

 Asesu'r rhai nad ydynt yn asiantaethau (rhiant/gofalwr, mabwysiadu llys-riant 
gynt) 

 

 Gwasanaethau Cwnsela a Chyfryngwyr Cofnodion Geni (BRC &IS) 
 

 Cymorth mabwysiadu (asesiadau a gwasanaethau cymorth i unrhyw un sydd 
wedi’u heffeithio gan fabwysiadu) 

 

 Olrhain gefeilliaid a Dod o hyd i Deuluoedd (TT&FF), sy'n golygu gweithio gyda 
theuluoedd biolegol plant mewn gofal neu ar ôl achosion gofal ac unwaith y bydd 
Gorchymyn Lleoli wedi'i roi gan y llys wrth chwilio am leoliad mabwysiadu 

 
Amlinellodd y Rheolwr Mabwysiadu Rhanbarthol rai meysydd allweddol o berfformiad a 
gweithgarwch y gwasanaeth a amlinellwyd yn adran 4.5 o'r adroddiad. Gwelwyd 
gostyngiad o 16% yn nifer y plant sydd wedi’u hatgyfeirio ar gyfer gwasanaeth olrhain 
deuol o'i gymharu  â’r flwyddyn flaenorol. Cafodd 44 o blant Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr eu 
cyfeirio o'i gymharu â 62 yn 2019-20. Gwelodd nifer y plant a leolwyd ostyngiad bach yn 
ystod y flwyddyn yn bennaf oherwydd effaith COVID yn ystod misoedd cynnar y 
Pandemig - 69 o'i gymharu â 79 yn 2019/20 ond yn fwy tebyg o ran nifer hyd at 2018/19 
pan leolwyd 67 o blant. Roedd nifer y plant ym Mhen-y-bont ar Ogwr oedd wedi’u lleoli 
wedi aros yr un fath â'r flwyddyn flaenorol gydag 20 o blant yn trosglwyddo i'w lleoliad 
mabwysiadu. 
 
Nododd y Rheolwr Mabwysiadu Rhanbarthol y bu problemau wrth nodi darpar 
fabwysiadwyr yn ardaloedd Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr a Chastell-nedd Port Talbot, felly roedd 
y Swyddog Marchnata yn gweithio'n agos gyda'r awdurdodau lleol hyn.  
 
Gofynnodd Aelod y Cabinet Cymunedau mewn perthynas â marchnata ar gyfer Pen-y-
bont ar Ogwr a CNPT, beth rydym wedi'i ddysgu a beth y gellir ei wneud i ddod â mwy o 
fabwysiadwyr ymlaen. Eglurodd y Rheolwr Mabwysiadu Rhanbarthol fod angen gwneud 
y gwasanaeth yn weladwy ac ymgysylltu â darpar fabwysiadwyr i'w gwneud yn 
ymwybodol o'r gwasanaeth a rhoi anogaeth. Ychwanegodd y gallai'r Gwasanaeth 
Mabwysiadu Rhanbarthol edrych ar y perfformiad ar ddiwedd y flwyddyn a gweld beth 
oedd angen ei wneud wrth symud ymlaen. Dywedodd yr Arweinydd fod y cyfryngau 
cymdeithasol yn ffordd dda o edrych arno o ran hyrwyddo'r gwasanaeth. Ychwanegodd 
ei bod yn wythnos fabwysiadu genedlaethol yr wythnos nesaf ac felly byddai lefel wych o 
waith hyrwyddo ac ymgysylltu yn digwydd yn ystod y cyfnod hwn. Gofynnodd y 
Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Lles a allai Aelodau 
hyrwyddo hyn drwy eu sianeli cyfryngau cymdeithasol er mwyn sicrhau cymaint o 
ymgysylltu â phosibl.  
 
Soniodd yr Arweinydd fod y protestiadau ar fabwysiadu gorfodol wedi cael effaith 
negyddol ar fabwysiadu ym Mhen-y-bont ar Ogwr. Gofynnodd a oedd unrhyw arwydd o 
welliannau neu a oedd diffyg data i wneud y penderfyniad hwnnw. Dywedodd y Rheolwr 
Mabwysiadu Rhanbarthol ei bod yn rhy gynnar i ddweud ond y byddai'n gallu cael gwell 
dealltwriaeth yn ddiweddarach yn y flwyddyn. 
 
Holodd yr Arweinydd ynghylch adran o'r adroddiad oedd yn crybwyll bod gostyngiad yn 
nifer yr asesiadau cymorth mabwysiadu newydd a oedd yn dechrau. Gofynnodd am 
eglurhad ar hyn gan fod y tîm wedi tyfu a bod mwy o gefnogaeth wedi'i darparu. 
Eglurodd y Rheolwr Mabwysiadu Rhanbarthol fod hyn o ganlyniad i chwistrelliad o gyllid 
ar gyfer y flwyddyn flaenorol a oedd yn galluogi mwy o staff i gael eu cyflogi, a'r 

Page 4



PWYLLGOR Y CABINET DROS FATERION RHIENI CORFFORAETHOL - DYDD IAU, 14 HYDREF 2021 

 
canlyniad oedd bod llawer o deuluoedd a oedd ar y rhestr aros yn cael eu clirio'n 
gyflymach.  
 
Gofynnodd yr Arweinydd a oedd data ar lwyddiant y gwasanaeth ac unrhyw adborth yn 
dilyn hyn. Dywedodd y Rheolwr Mabwysiadu Rhanbarthol ein bod wedi dechrau derbyn 
adborth gan fabwysiadwyr ac y byddai’r wybodaeth yn cael ei chyflwyno yn 
adroddiadau’r y blynyddoedd nesaf. Ychwanegodd bod y gwasanaeth mabwysiadu 
hefyd wedi dechrau gofyn am adborth ar achosion sydd wedi cau i weld sut roedd 
mabwysiadwyr wedi teimlo am y gwasanaethau roedden nhw wedi'u derbyn. 
Ychwanegodd yr Arweinydd fod hyn yn fuddiol er mwyn sicrhau y gallai'r gwasanaeth 
ddeall y profiadau cadarnhaol a ddarparwyd tra hefyd yn gwella'r gwasanaeth lle bo 
angen.  
 
Gofynnodd y Dirprwy Arweinydd a oedd unrhyw heriau mawr i'r gwasanaeth 
mabwysiadu rhanbarthol pan newidiodd Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr i Fwrdd Iechyd Cwm Taf. 
Eglurodd y Rheolwr Mabwysiadu Rhanbarthol fod rhai heriau bach ond yn gyffredinol, 
roedd y broses yn ddi-dor. Nid oedd yr heriau a wynebwyd yn effeithio ar y gwaith a 
wnaed ar lawr gwlad.    
 
PENDERFYNWYD:  Bod y Pwyllgor wedi ystyried a nodi perfformiad a 

chynnydd y Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Rhanbarthol 
 

233. CYMERADWYO'R DATGANIADAU O DDIBEN AR GYFER GWASANAETHAU 
PRESWYL 
 
Cyflwynodd Rheolwr y Grŵp – Gwasanaethau Lleoli a Darparwyr adroddiad ar y 
datganiadau o ddiben diwygiedig ar gyfer y ddarpariaeth bresennol o wasanaethau 
preswyl plant a phobl ifanc yng Nghyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr. 
 
Esboniodd fod gan Gyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr bedwar cartref preswyl 
i blant ar hyn o bryd sy'n darparu gwasanaethau i blant a phobl ifanc 0-19 mlwydd oed:  
 

 mae Maple Tree House yn darparu gwasanaeth i blant a phobl ifanc rhwng 8 a 
18 mlwydd oed sydd angen cyfnod o asesu i sefydlu cynllun lleoliad hirdymor. Y 
cyfnod asesu yw 6 mis. Mae gan Maple Tree House ddau wely brys hefyd sy'n 
darparu llety am hyd at 28 diwrnod.  

 

 Mae Sunny Bank yn darparu gwasanaeth tymor canolig i hirdymor i blant a phobl 
ifanc 8-18 mlwydd oed sy'n arddangos anghenion cymhleth ac yr aseswyd bod 
angen lleoliad preswyl arnynt.  

 

 Mae Bakers Way yn darparu gwasanaeth seibiant byr i blant a phobl ifanc anabl 
rhwng 0 a 18 mlwydd oed. Tudalen 43 Eitem 5 ar yr Agenda  

 

 Mae Harwood House yn darparu gwasanaeth preswyl 52 wythnos tymor canolig i 
hir ar gyfer hyd at dri o blant a phobl ifanc rhwng 8 a 18 mlwydd oed ag 
anghenion cymhleth, gan gynnwys anabledd dysgu. Fodd bynnag, bydd 
darpariaeth barhaus yn cael ei hystyried ar gyfer pobl ifanc hyd at 19 mlwydd 
oed sy'n parhau mewn lleoliadau addysgol. 

 
Eglurodd Rheolwr y Grŵp – Gwasanaethau Lleoli a Darparwyr fod ein holl wasanaethau 
wedi'u cofrestru yn Hydref 2018 i fodloni gofynion y ddeddfwriaeth newydd. Mae gan 
bob darpariaeth gwasanaeth mewnol ei datganiad o ddiben ei hun sydd wedi'i hatodi fel 
Atodiad fel a ganlyn: 
 

Page 5



PWYLLGOR Y CABINET DROS FATERION RHIENI CORFFORAETHOL - DYDD IAU, 14 HYDREF 2021 

 
Atodiad 1 – Bakers Way  
Atodiad 2 – Harwood House  
Atodiad 3 – Sunny Bank  
Atodiad 4 – Maple Tree House 
 
Yn unol â'r Rheoliadau, mae'r Datganiadau o Ddiben bellach wedi bod yn destun eu 
hadolygiad blynyddol. Rhestrwyd newidiadau i'r datganiad yn 4.4 o'r adroddiad.  
 
Croesawodd yr Arweinydd yr adroddiad a dywedodd fod y datganiadau o ddiben yn 
ddogfen sy’n newid yn barhaus a oedd yn adlewyrchu anghenion y plant a'r bobl ifanc a 
oedd yn byw yn y cyfleusterau hyn. Roedd yn falch o groesawu'r newid oedran o ran y 
gallai preswylydd aros yn Sunny Bank i 7 diwrnod ar ôl ei ben-blwydd yn 18 mlwydd oed 
ond nid oedd hynny'n golygu y byddai cymorth yn dod i ben ar ôl y cyfnod hwn gan fod 
pecynnau cymorth yn cael eu rhoi ar waith ar ôl i'r person hwnnw symud ymlaen.   
 
Tynnodd Rheolwr y Grŵp – Gwasanaethau Lleoli a Darparwyr sylw at y ffaith y bydd gan 
bob plentyn o 16 mlwydd oed sy'n breswylwyr yn un o'r cartrefi gynllun ar eu cyfer fel eu 
bod yn barod ar gyfer gadael. Roedd ganddynt rywun wedi’i neilltuo iddynt i’w cynghori a 
oedd ar gael y tu hwnt i 18 mlwydd oed a hyd at 25 mlwydd oed, gan roi cymaint o 
gefnogaeth â phosibl iddynt a dywedodd ei bod yn bwysig nad oedd plant â phrofiad o 
ofal yn profi digartrefedd. Pwysleisiodd yr Arweinydd bwysigrwydd hyn gan mai'r plant 
mewn gofal oedd y plant mwyaf agored i niwed ac roedd cymorth yn bwysig iawn ar 
gyfer pan fyddant yn gadael.  
 
Gofynnodd y Dirprwy Arweinydd sut oedd y sefyllfa staffio yn y maes gwasanaeth a pha 
waith oedd yn cael ei wneud o ran sicrhau parhad y gwasanaeth. Eglurodd Rheolwr y 
Grŵp – Gwasanaethau Lleoli a Darparwyr fod y sefyllfa o ran staffio wedi gwella'n fawr 
yn ystod y misoedd diwethaf. Ar wahân i salwch staffio, roedd pob swydd wedi’i llenwi ar 
hyn o bryd yn Sunny Bank yn ogystal â Maple Tree House, gyda 2 swydd wag yn 
Harwood House ar lefel uwch a oedd i fod i gael eu llenwi cyn bo hir. Ychwanegodd bod 
nifer o swyddi gwag yn Bakers Way ers peth amser, ond bod 3 o'r swyddi hynny wedi'u 
llenwi'n ddiweddar.  
 
Gofynnodd Aelod y Cabinet Cymunedau mewn perthynas â'r swyddi rhan-amser a oedd 
wedi bod yn wag ers peth amser, a fyddai hyn yn cyfyngu ar ymgeisydd posibl rhag 
llenwi'r swyddi oherwydd nad oedd yn llawn amser ac a ystyriwyd uno'r swyddi yn swydd 
lawn amser. Eglurodd Rheolwr y Grŵp – Gwasanaethau Lleoli a Darparwyr, er y byddai 
swydd amser llawn fel arfer yn fwy buddiol, oherwydd y sefyllfa o ran patrymau rota 
mewn cartrefi gofal, ei bod yn fwy buddiol cael swyddi rhan-amser uwch yn lle hynny. 
Ychwanegodd yr Arweinydd ei bod yn amlwg bod llawer o waith wedi'i wneud i drafod 
sefyllfaoedd y rota a bod y broses recriwtio a'r newidiadau wedi'u gwneud ac wedi bod 
yn fuddiol.  
 
PENDERFYNWYD:  Bod y Pwyllgor wedi nodi cynnwys yr adroddiad ac wedi 

cymeradwyo'r datganiad o ddiben ar gyfer pob un o'r 
gwasanaethau preswyl. 

 
234. AROLYGIAD CARTREFI PRESWYL AROLYGIAETH GOFAL CYMRU 

 
Cyflwynodd y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol, Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Lles 
adroddiad a oedd yn amlinellu'r Cynllun Gweithredu yn dilyn arolygiad Arolygiaeth Gofal 
Cymru (AGC) o Maple Tree House ym mis Hydref 2020. 
 
Dywedodd Rheolwr y Grŵp – Gwasanaethau Lleoli a Darparwyr fod AGC wedi cynnal 
arolygiad â phwyslais penodol yn Maple Tree House ar 28 Hydref 2020; mae'r adroddiad 
arolygu llawn i'w weld yn Atodiad 1. Darparwyd diweddariad llafar i'r pwyllgor yn dilyn 

Page 6



PWYLLGOR Y CABINET DROS FATERION RHIENI CORFFORAETHOL - DYDD IAU, 14 HYDREF 2021 

 
hyn ond bryd hynny nid oedd yr adroddiad arolygu terfynol wedi dod i law. Cynhaliwyd yr 
Arolygiad i brofi'r diffyg cydymffurfio a godwyd yn y tri arolygiad blaenorol ym mis Medi 
2019, Chwefror 2020 ac Awst 2020, yn ymwneud â lles, gofal a chymorth ac 
arweinyddiaeth a rheolaeth y gwasanaeth. Barnwyd bod y gwasanaeth yn wasanaeth 
sy'n peri pryder a rhoddwyd hysbysiad o benderfyniad i gyfyngu ar dderbyniadau. 
 
Dywedodd Rheolwr y Grŵp – Gwasanaethau Lleoli a Darparwyr nad oedd unrhyw 
feysydd wedi'u nodi yn yr arolygiad lle'r oedd angen gwella. Tynnodd sylw at ddarn o'r 
canfyddiadau a wnaed gan AGC. Canfuwyd bod newidiadau a datblygiadau cadarnhaol 
wedi bod i brosesau a strwythurau ac i rai o'r systemau mewnol sy'n cefnogi staff i ofalu 
am bobl ifanc. Ychwanegodd Rheolwr y Grŵp – Gwasanaethau Lleoli a Darparwyr fod 
Cynllun Gweithredu cynhwysfawr wedi'i ddatblygu gan y Gwasanaeth yn 2019 i fynd i'r 
afael â meysydd o ddiffyg cydymffurfio a nodwyd o Arolygiadau blaenorol a oedd bellach 
wedi'u cwblhau ac a oedd yn ffactor a gyfrannodd at y newidiadau a wnaed. 
 
Ychwanegodd Rheolwr y Grŵp – Gwasanaethau Lleoli a Darparwyr eu bod bellach wedi 
cyflogi'r Dadansoddwr Ymddygiad 4 diwrnod yr wythnos a oedd wedi helpu i ymgorffori'r 
strwythurau sydd ar waith i gefnogi'r amgylchedd sydd ei angen ar blant i ffynnu. 
Ychwanegodd mai un o nodau'r gwasanaeth oedd parhau i wneud gwelliannau o 
flwyddyn i flwyddyn a hyd yn oed gyda'r her sy'n dod o Maple Tree House o ran ei 
leoliad, credai y gellid gwneud gwelliannau o hyd i sicrhau ei fod yn darparu'r 
gwasanaeth gorau posibl.  
 
Croesawodd yr Arweinydd yr adroddiad a dywedodd ei bod yn braf gweld y gwelliannau 
cyflym yn cael eu gwneud mewn cyfnod mor fyr. Diolchodd yn bersonol i'r staff yn Maple 
Tree House am eu hymrwymiad i'r plant a'r gwasanaethau a ddarperir. Ategodd Yr 
Aelod Cabinet Llesiant a Chenedlaethau'r Dyfodol sylwadau'r Arweinydd a braf oedd 
gweld bod Maple Tree House yn adfer o'r heriau yr oedd yn eu hwynebu. Dywedodd 
Rheolwr y Grŵp – Gwasanaethau Lleoli a Darparwyr mai'r tîm a'u hymrwymiad yn wir a 
wnaeth y newidiadau'n bosibl.  
 
Soniodd Aelod fod methiannau Maple Tree House wedi bod yn bennawd yn y papurau 
lleol. Gofynnodd sut aethom ati i hyrwyddo'r newidiadau a'r gwelliannau ers hynny yn 
ogystal â rhoi sicrwydd i ddarpar ddefnyddwyr y gwasanaeth yn y dyfodol. Eglurodd 
Rheolwr y Grŵp – Gwasanaethau Lleoli a Darparwyr ei bod bob amser yn her ceisio 
hyrwyddo rhywle lle'r oedd yn gartref i lawer o blant agored i niwed ac felly nad oedd am 
roi gormod o wybodaeth. Esboniodd fod y gwasanaeth yn cael ei hyrwyddo'n ddiweddar 
drwy gyflwyniad drwy ADSS Cymru a chymryd cyfleoedd fel hyn pan fyddant yn codi 
oedd y ffordd orau o hyrwyddo'r gwasanaethau bob amser.  
 
Dywedodd y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol, Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Lles y byddent 
yn cyflwyno cais am anrhydedd gofal cymdeithasol gyda'r nod o hyrwyddo ymhellach y 
gwaith cadarnhaol a wnaed. Ychwanegodd mai'r nod oedd ailgyflwyno ymweliadau rota 
pan oeddent yn ddiogel i wneud hynny gan fod hyn yn rhan bwysig iawn o'r broses 
sicrhau ansawdd. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD:  Bod y Pwyllgor wedi nodi cynnwys yr adroddiad Arolygu ac 

wedi derbyn a chymeradwyo'r cynllun gweithredu wedi'i 
ddiweddaru. 

 
235. EITEMAU BRYS 

 
Dim 
 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO CORPORATE PARENTING COMMITTEE 
 

2 MARCH 2022 
 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING 
 

UPDATE ON THE REMODELLING OF CHILDREN’S RESIDENTIAL SERVICES  AND 
THE BRIDGEND FOSTERING SERVICE 

 
 

1. Purpose of report  

 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Corporate Parenting Committee with an 
update regarding the remodelling of Children’s Residential Services and to provide 
updated information about Bridgend Foster Care service provision and developments 
that are underway. 

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities 
 

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objectives 
under the  Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-   

 

 Supporting a successful sustainable economy –. taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough.  

 

 Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - taking 
steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on 
the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and communities to build 
resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to have active, healthy and 
independent lives. 
 

 Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that 
can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives. 

 
 

3. Background 

 

3.1 In February 2018 Children’s Social Care reported to Cabinet on the work that had 
been undertaken as part of the Remodelling of Children’s Residential Services in 
Bridgend. 

 

3.2 Feedback from staff engagement sessions undertaken at that time identified a 
number of issues with the service model and the way the homes were structured, 
including: 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



 

 A lack of control over resident ‘mix’ due to age restrictions of each home and 
lack of placement options. 

 No alternatives to residential placements for those with complex needs. 

 Insufficient move-on facilities resulting in longer residential placements than is 
necessary. 

 Young people who are not ready for transition being placed in Newbridge 
House, as there are no other options available. 

 No emergency beds – existing homes cannot be used for emergency 
placements as this is not included in their Statement of Purpose. 

 Layout of the homes not encouraging a positive, psychologically informed 
environment. 

 Staff only able to provide minimal outreach support. 

 Reservations regarding services’ ability to achieve certain outcomes meaning 
a high level of Out of County and Independent Fostering Agency (IFA) 
placements. 

 Children being sent far away from their home area. 

3.3 Other issues identified at that time included: 

 The need for a model which maximised the number of stable and safe 
accommodation options for young people leaving care. 

 The numbers and cost of children who were being placed in high cost Out of 
County accommodation. 

 

3.4  The Key elements of the new model included: 

 

 The Hub (Maple Tree House) which consisted of two emergency beds and 
four assessment beds.  Based at Newbridge House this service would allow 
for support to be provided in a timely way and facilitate move-on to another 
placement option that best meets the young person’s need.  There would be 
therapeutic staff on-site and outreach support workers who could provide 
additional support to young people, families and carers. 

 Medium/Long Term Unit (Sunny Bank) that would provide a four bed home 
to young people who need a higher level of intensive support before they were 
able to move on to one of the other placement options available. 

 Supported Lodgings providing a placement for young people who are not yet 
ready for independent living, that does not have the same level of regulation 
as a foster placement, but provides the individual with a more structured family 
type environment. 

 Supported Living to provide increased move-on accommodation for young 
people in placements prior to their 18th birthday.  This would reduce delay in 
young people moving out from residential care and prevent young people 
presenting as homeless on their 18th birthday. 

 Therapeutic Services that were readily available to support young people, 
including the recruitment of a Clinical Psychologist and Senior Practitioner 
Social Worker.  The vision was for this service to expand to include Placement 
Support Workers and potentially a therapist with a play therapy background. 

 Transitional Foster Carers (4-6) recruited who could act as a step down for 
young people who were leaving residential care, before they were placed in a 
long-term family placement. 

 

Page 10



 

3.5  In addition to the remodelling work undertaken, Children’s Social Care also have two 
Residential Homes to support disabled children. 

 

 Harwood House which can support three young children/young people 
(mixed gender) within the age range of 8-19 years with complex needs, which 
include a learning disability or a disability diagnosis such as Autism. 

  Bakers Way providing support  to children with a disability and their families 
to enjoy appropriate and safe short breaks supporting them to remain living  
together. The service can offer a short break placement for children with 
complex medical needs who are cared for by appropriately trained staff. 

 
3.6  In January 2019 Children’s Social Care reported to Corporate Parenting Committee 

on the Remodelling of Fostering Services. 

3.7  It was anticipated that the work would benefit the population of Care Experienced 
children, by providing improved placement choice, improved placement matching and 
more local placements.  In addition it was identified that it would achieve cost savings 
contributing to the Directorate’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). 

3.8 The Recommendations were: 

 The Fostering Service was to be separated into two distinct areas; one with 
responsibility for connected persons foster carers and one with responsibility 
for general foster carers. 

 The existing five liaison carer roles were to be maintained, with one being 
dedicated to connected persons carers and the other four to general foster 
carers. 

 In the short term, the Skills to Foster Course would be re-shaped to align with 
the directorate wide training programme.  

 In the longer term, it was proposed that consideration was given to 
strengthening Bridgend County Borough Council’s (BCBC) in-house training 
for foster carers, through the development and delivery of in-house courses. 

 To be competitive with IFA’s it was proposed that BCBC needs to pay fees to 
general foster carers at an earlier stage in their fostering career.  The 
recommendation was for them to receive a fee post approval, with the 
expectation they complete a core training programme within their first year. 

 Introduction of a £250 bonus for a foster carers who refer a friend to Bridgend 
and who goes on to be approved and receive a placement. 

 Implement a new process to review all IFA placements that have been in place 
less than 16 weeks. 

 The Permanence Social Workers to be transferred to work within the Fostering 
Team where it was identified their role had a “better fit”.   

 To support the recruitment of Foster Carers, a Development Officer post and 
an additional Social Worker to undertake Foster Carer Assessments.  Targets 
were set for additional carers to be recruited (2019/20 – 7, 2020/21 – 8 and 
2021/22 – 9). 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 11



 

4. Current situation/proposal 
 
 Residential Services 
 
4.1 In line with the paper presented to Cabinet in 2018 Residential Services have been 

remodelled, with Sunny Bank now offering Medium to Long Term Placements to 
children and young people aged 8-17 years.  The Service has provided a safe and 
stable home to a number of young people, two of whom have lived there for over five 
years, one for four years and one for three years.  Of these young people one is 
transitioning to supported accommodation in March 2022, one is transitioning to Ty 
Mor in March 2022, and placement searches are currently being undertaken to 
identify a Foster Carer for one child to step down from Residential Care.   

 
4.2  Maple Tree House (MTH) has been open since 2018 offering a two bed emergency 

unit and a four bed assessment unit.  It offers a therapeutic environment for children 
and young people, using a trauma informed approach to provide the most effective 
support possible, enabling them to understand their individual circumstances, 
develop resilience and self-care skills.   The initial proposals were for there to be an 
on-site psychologist who would be able to be readily available to support young 
people and a Social Worker to undertake the Assessment.  Following unsuccessful 
attempts to recruit to the psychologist post, a review was undertaken and a decision 
made to implement a model which utilised the services of an on-site Behaviour 
Analyst.  The Behaviour Analyst undertakes a complex assessment for each young 
person in the Assessment Unit that will consider their Functional Living Skills, 
identifying areas for development, a young persons therapeutic needs and will also 
set out recommendations in terms of placement options.  In addition to this the 
Behaviour Analyst will analyse the young people’s behaviours and develop bespoke 
protocols to support staff intervention and undertake direct therapy work with young 
people.  The aim, during a young persons time at Maple Tree House is to provide 
them with consistency and routines and to enable them to develop trusting 
relationships that will support their recovery from trauma allowing them to gain the 
maximum benefit of any therapy that the receive.  The Service are currently working 
with Dr Jennifer Austin from the University of South Wales who is looking to undertake 
research on the impact of behaviour analysis on young people who have experienced 
trauma. 

 
4.3  In April 2020 The Behaviour Clinic commenced in their role to support the 

implementation of this model until the Service was able to recruit a Behaviour Analyst.  
Since this time the service has faced a number of challenges linked with Non-
Compliance with Regulatory Requirements and the Covid Pandemic, with its impact 
on staffing and the young people who were living at MTH.  Despite these challenges 
the service achieved a positive inspection outcome in October 2020 and the 
understanding and confidence of the staff team has continued to improve. 

 
4.4 The next step is for the new Residential Hub to be built in Brynmenyn (re-locating 

Maple Tree House) and I am pleased to be able to report that the old Brynmenyn 
Primary School has been demolished and the site cleared in readiness for 
construction work to commence during spring 2022 with an anticipated completion 
date in January/February 2023.  Consultation with young people played a significant 
role in the initial development of the building and we continue to engage with young 
people regarding the opportunity to develop the outside space (which will be quite 
considerable at the new build).  The new building will allow for even greater 

Page 12



 

opportunities to engage with young people to support them in a positive environment.  
Within this building there will also be office accommodation where the fostering and 
placements team will be co-located to support with identifying the right placement 
options for a young person following their time in the residential home.  

 
 Supported Accommodation  
 
4.5 The role of Transitional Foster Carers was developed which identified that six foster 

carers were required, due to the demands of the role and the need to have an 
opportunity post placement for a short period of recovery and to have two carers 
available at any time to support other Transitional Carers who had a young person in 
placement.  However, the service was only able to recruit three transitional foster 
carers.  Two of these later made a decision to step away from that role as they wished 
to provide on-going care to a young person who they were looking after and one 
choosing to leave the role of foster carer altogether.  At the present time BCBC do 
not have any Transitional Foster Carers.  However, work has been undertaken to 
review the role and develop a policy which sets out in detail the expectations and also 
the support available.  The service are currently working with Golley Slater on a 
targeted recruitment campaign for Transitional Foster Carers that began in February 
2022. 

 
4.6 Development of the therapeutic support for young people was at the heart of the 

remodelling work.  As noted above, following unsuccessful recruitment for the 
psychologist, the service has now employed a Behaviour Analyst.  To further support 
the development of this model, nine members of staff and one liaison foster carer 
have been offered places on the “Practical Skills in Applied Behaviour Analysis” 
course at University of South Wales providing them with the opportunity, once they 
successfully complete the course, to undertake a competency based assessment 
and become a Registered Behaviour Technician with the Behaviour Analyst 
Certification Board.  This course will provide attendees with knowledge and skills for 
implementing basic behavioural analytic strategies, and strategies to help young 
people acquire important communication, social and academic skills, how to 
determine some reasons why challenging behaviours occur, and how to replace 
problem behaviours with more appropriate skills. 

 
4.7 Since 2018 the Service has identified the need to develop a new residential “pop up” 

service that can be made operational at short notice to provide accommodation to a 
young person/young adult who, due to their complex needs, cannot be placed 
alongside others.  This provision could provide, for example, an alternative to secure 
accommodation.  Whenever the young person moves on from this accommodation 
the service will be “popped down” with staff being re-deployed across the other 
residential homes to provide cover for staff absences.  This service will be registered 
as a children’s home but will also be able to support young people up to the age of 
25 years.  BCBC have worked closely with Valleys to Coast (V2C) who identified a 
property where this service could be based.  In 2021 V2C, supported by BCBC, 
successfully applied for Discretionary Integrated Care Funding (ICF) Grant, in order 
to renovate the property with all works being completed in January 2022.  BCBC also 
secured Safe Accommodation revenue funding for 2021/22 and has re-aligned 
budget to allow for the recruitment of permanent staff for the service.  We are currently 
in the process of recruiting staff and preparing all required documentation in order to 
apply to Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) for registration.   

 

Page 13



 

Foster Wales Bridgend 
 
4.8 In December 2021 the re-structure of the Fostering Service in Bridgend was 

completed.  Bridgend Fostering is now divided into: 

 General Fostering and Placements – Recruitment, assessing and supporting 
all general foster carers (including transitional foster carers) and placement 
services. 

 Kinship and Permanence – Assessing and supporting Connected Persons 
Foster Carers, Permanence, “When I am Ready” carers, Supported Lodgings 
and Re-unification workers. 

4.9 The service currently have 5 Liaison Carers, one of whom is a Connected Person 
Foster Carer.  This service is currently being reviewed and further consideration being 
given to their role and its development including issues such as Out of Hours support 
for foster carers.  As part of this work the liaison carers developed a questionnaire for 
the service to send to all foster carers as part of a programme of engagement to 
ensure that we provide a high quality service to them and ensure that their voice is 
heard in any service improvements made. 

 
4.10 Bridgend Foster Care have re-developed the pre-approval training for prospective 

foster carers to meet the challenges of the pandemic that have prevented face to face 
learning. With the permission of the Fostering Network, the training, known as Skills 
to Foster, has been adapted into a workbook that can be delivered remotely. In 
addition to this the workbooks have been tailored to the needs of the prospective 
carers, with one workbook to meet the needs of general foster carers and the other 
to meet the needs kinship carers. The Kinship Carer workbook incorporates the 
recommendations of the ‘Guide for the offer of Special Guardianship Support in 
Wales’ (published by Association for Fostering and Adoption Cymru (AFA Cymru) in 
2020) to ensure that connected persons who care for children are aware of all the 
options available to them. We have also drafted a training workbook for those 
connected persons who care for children and make private law applications to court 
for Special Guardianship Orders and who do not want to be considered as foster 
carers, to ensure that they have access to the same vital information to aid them in 
caring for another’s child and making informed choices. 

 
4.11 Post-Approval Learning and Development Framework For Foster Carers - The 

purpose of the Framework is to provide a basis for a national approach that can 
underpin a more consistent approach to learning and development for foster carers 
across Wales. It is hoped that the development of a more consistent approach to 
post-approval training for foster carers will provide a platform for fostering services to 
exploit the potential benefits of regional working, should they choose.  The 
Framework recognises the importance of providing an individualised approach to 
learning and development for foster carers, driven by circumstances, strengths, 
vulnerabilities and the needs of the children they foster.  Learning opportunities can 
be provided through formal training courses, but also through online learning, peer 
mentoring, self-learning or through practice learning (eg through one to one work with 
a therapist in relation to a specific child). The key issue is: “How did the 
learning/development activity contribute to your capacity as a foster carer to meet the 
needs and improve outcomes for the child in your care?”  A national launch took place 
in November 2019 with over 70 stakeholders from across the Cwm Taf Morgannwg 
(CTM) region, including each Local Authority in attendance.  Briefing sessions have 
been rolled out across local authority fostering teams, members of foster panel and 

Page 14



 

to the foster carers themselves regarding the framework being implemented. The 
framework is being phased in gradually across the CTM region in line with Annual 
reviews due over the year. 

 
4.12 The proposal regarding the fee payment to all general foster carers was successfully 

implemented.  A draft eligibility and Fostering Allowances Policy has now been 
developed which would allow Connected Persons Carers to be assessed against the 
criteria and also being entitled to an “Additional Allowance” (formerly Fee). 

 
4.13 The Service did introduce the £250 reward scheme for carers who “refer a friend” 

however, this has had very limited impact on the number of referrals received. 
 
4.14 All new IFA placements are reviewed by the placement team within 16 weeks of the 

placement being made.  However, it has been identified that a more formal multi-
agency process is needed.   The Terms of Reference for the Accommodation and 
Permanence Panel are currently being reviewed and consideration being given to 
reviewing these placements within this meeting.  At the present time the number of 
children and young people who are placed with IFA foster carers is 45 which 
represents a significant reduction from 70 on the 31st March 2020. 

 
4.15 Permanence is now an integrated part of the Fostering Service.  The Special 

Guardianship Policy was reviewed and updated in November 2020 and a new 
separate Special Guardianship Order Financial Policy was introduced in June 2021. 

 
4.16 The Development Officer post was initially introduced to the Service, but following a 

review of options a decision was made for Bridgend County Borough to join its 
regional partners offering a Regional Front door offering one point of contact for foster 
care enquiries.  As part of this service there is a regional marketing officer who, along 
with BCBC Communications Team lead on foster carer recruitment. 

 
 In September 2021 Maethau Cymru/Foster Wales was launched with BCBC fostering 

service being named Maethau Pen y Bont/Bridgend Fostering and the Fostering 
Website updated. 

 
 In January 2022 Bridgend Fostering launched its Social Media pages on Facebook, 

Twitter and Instagram. 
 
 

Bridgend Foster Care/ Foster Bridgend 
 
4.17 Bridgend Fostering Service continues to offer a wide range of fostering services for 

children who need to be Looked After and this includes carers who are able to offer 
care to children and young people who do not have a pre-existing relationship with 
and carers who are considered to be “connected persons”. 

 
4.18  As at 23rd March 2021 within Bridgend Foster Care there were: 

 99 approved Fostering households for general foster placements 

 129 children placed with in-house general foster carers 

 56 approved Connected Persons fostering households 

 88 children placed with Connected Persons Foster Carers 

 65 children placed with independent fostering agencies 

Page 15



 

4.19    Bridgend Fostering has faced significant challenges during 2020 due to the Covid 
19 pandemic but during this time has sought to provide on-going support to carers. 

 
4.20 In November 2019 funding was secured to recruit 4 re-unification workers whose 

main aims were to: 

 support foster placements at risk of placement breakdown,  

 support children to transition into step down provision (from residential and out 
of county placements) and 

 support children to be reunified into the care of their birth family 

During Quarters 1-3 of 2021/22 there were some notable outcomes achieved: 

 56 Referrals received 
o 26 placement Stability 
o 23 re-unification 
o  2   transition between placements 
o  4   inappropriate referrals 

 11 cases where re-unification home has been achieved 

 3 cases where support and intervention has contributed to a plan for Special 
Guardianship Order 

 1 case which supported a grandmother to obtain a Child Arrangement Order 

 1 case which supported a young person to transition to a Connected Person 
Foster Carer 

 6 cases where placement stability was achieved 

 The number of children having 3 + placement moves as at 31st December 2020 
was 7.12% (6.72% 31st December 2019). 

 
4.21  As part of Children’s Services re-modelling of Residential Care in 2018 it was 

proposed that 6 Transitional Foster Carers would be recruited who would act as a 
step-down for young people coming out of the residential units before being placed 
in a long-term family or independent placement. They would be therapeutically trained 
and therefore able to address issues that occurred as a result of a transition into a 
different environment, increasing the chances that the long-term placement will be 
successful and reducing multiple placement breakdowns and reliance on out-of-
county placements. 

 
 The scheme was only successful in recruiting 3 Transitional Foster Carers who were 

approved at the beginning of 2019 and this did have an impact upon the overall 
success.  Since this time one of the Transitional Carers resigned and another made 
the decision to step down from her role as a transitional carer in order to continue to 
provide a long term placement to a child who was in her care. 

 
 In January 2021 a review of this scheme was undertaken, with one of the previous 

transitional foster carers central to and informing our discussions/decisions and we 
are currently seeking to recruit an additional 5 carers.  It is recognised that the 
Transitional Foster Care Scheme plays a key role within the wider Placements 
Service to reduce the number of children who need to be placed outside of BCBC 
and to prevent children and young people experiencing numerous placement 
breakdowns. 

 
4.22  Bridgend’s Fostering Team is also going through a re-structure at the present time 

with a view to continue to provide timely and high quality support to our general foster 

Page 16



 

carers, whilst promoting a focus on permanence options for children and young 
people within their own extended family. 
 
 

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 There are no effects on the policy framework or procedure rules arising from this 

report. 
 

6. Equality Act 2010 implications 
 
6.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic 

Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh language have been considered in the 
preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales, the Council must consider the 
impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions. This is an information report, therefore it is not 
necessary to carry out an Equality Impact assessment in the production of this 
report. It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable equality 
impacts as a result of this report.  

 
 
7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1 As stated above stakeholders have advocated for greater collaboration across all 

sectors, to address strategically the growing concerns about the overall effectiveness 
and sustainability of fostering services in Wales. The creation of a National 
Framework was seen as a means of ensuring that known concerns were addressed 
and of introduced greater consistency without sacrificing the acknowledged strengths 
and diversity of local accountability within the existing system. 

 
7.2   Both the regional and local work programmes seek to support BCBC Children’s 

Services` aim that where children and young people are looked after this is done in 
placements that are within the local authority boundary enabling them maintain links 
with and access their school, GP, dentist, friends and family.  These work 
programmes also recognise the impact on Health and Education when children and 
young people are placed outside of BCBC. 

 
7.3  From the outset one of the key drivers in the development of a National Fostering 

Framework has been the recognition that Local Authorities across Wales did not have 
sufficient numbers of foster carers, with sufficient support and skills to meet the 
increasing demand for placements for children and young people with increasingly 
complex needs.  The work that has and continues to be undertaken is focussed on 
this to prevent any further deterioration in the ability of Local Authorities to meet this 
demand. 

 
8. Financial implications 
 
8.1 There are no specific financial implications arising directly out of this report. 

 
9. Recommendation 
 

Page 17



 

9.1 That the Corporate Parenting Committee notes the updated information contained 
within the report and supports the further development of the Bridgend Foster Care 
service as set out above. 
 

Claire Marchant 
Corporate Director, Social Services and Wellbeing 
March 2021 

 
Contact officer:  Steven Howell 

 Group Manager, Placements and Provider Services 
Telephone:   (01656) 642330 
Email:   Steven.Howell@bridgend.gov.uk 
Postal address:  Children’s Directorate, Civic Offices, CF31 4WB 

 
 
Background documents: None 

Page 18



 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO CORPORATE PARENTING COMMITTEE  
 

2 MARCH 2022 
 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING 
 

INDEPENDENT REVIEWING SERVICE (IRO) REPORT  
 

1. Purpose of report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide a report to Corporate Parenting Committee 

in line with The Independent Reviewing Officers Guidance (Wales) 2004. 

 
2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities 

 
2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 

objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-   
 

 Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough.  

 

 Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - 
taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives. 
 

 Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives. 

 
2.2 This report is connected to all corporate well-being objectives relating to care 

experienced children, its central objective being to achieve best outcomes for those 
children and young people through high quality care planning, which in turn helps to 
ensure they live in stable placements with plans for permanence in place.  The care 
planning for these children and young people is integral to Welsh Government’s 
commitment to reduce the number of care experienced children and young people in 
Wales.   
 

3. Background 
 
3.1 The appointment of Independent Reviewing Officers (IRO’s) by Local Authorities is 

a legal requirement and their core functions are governed by legislation and 
guidance as follows: 

 

 The Adoption and Children Act 2002.  

 The Independent Reviewing Officers Guidance (Wales) 2004. 

Page 19

Agenda Item 5



 

 
3.2 The Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) service has an authoritative role, in 

assuring the quality of care planning is achieved.  The Independent Reviewing 
Officers Guidance (Wales) 2004 states that the Independent Reviewing Service 
report must identify good practice but must also identify issues for further 
development, including those where urgent action is required. The guidance urges 
the Local Authority to make effective use of the reports from its IRO service so that it 
can be satisfied that its services can achieve best outcomes for the children and 
young people concerned.  

 
 
4. Current situation/proposal 
 
4.1 The Independent Reviewing Service report, Appendix 1, covers the work of the IRO 

service from April 2020 to March 2021. The report contains performance information 
in respect of the statutory reviewing of children who are Looked After, including 
children with plans for Adoption and Young People with Leaving Care LAC/Pathway 
Plans (under 18) by Bridgend County Borough Council. It also includes information 
on children subject of a child protection plan and reviews of these plans at Child 
Protection Case Conferences.  

 
4.2 The report also includes information that relates to regulatory requirements in respect 

of resolution of  case disputes, IRO caseloads, participation and consultation of young 
people in their Reviews, challenges and achievements in the reporting period, and 
service priorities for 2020-2021. 

 
4.3 In addition to the guidance referred to in paragraph 3.1 additional IRO guidance and 

practice standards were introduced at the beginning of 2019 by the Association for 
Fostering and Adoption (AFA) Cymru. IRO’s have worked to improve tracking and 
monitoring as advised within the Practice Standards and Good Practice Guide. 

 
4.4 As described in the report the IRO’s chaired/reviewed 195 Initial Child Protection 

Case Conferences between April 2020 and March 2021 compared to 235 in the 
previous year. A total of 518 Review Child Protection Case Conferences between 
April 2020 and March 2021 were convened compared to 595 in the previous reporting 
period and 1,159 Looked After Child review meetings were held between April 2020 
and March 2021 compared with 1,191 the previous reporting period.  

 
4.5 Following each meeting the IRO completes a quality assurance audit.  The Audit is 

available to the Social Worker and the Team Manager to notify them of outstanding 
work/actions.  The audit supports the IRO in the tracking of the case and supports 
the identification of good practice and areas for improvement.  The audit also 
supports the Team Manager when carrying out supervision with the Social Worker. 

 
4.6 Whilst the IRO service has worked to improve the consultation document for children 

and young people, challenges remain in encouraging them to complete it. Similarly, 
children and young people’s participation at both their Child Protection Review and 
Looked After Child Reviews is hugely important and should always be considered an 
area for improvement. In Bridgend, despite virtual platforms assisting in 
communication with children and young people, proportionately it is only a small 
number of children and young people who are attending their meetings.  

 

Page 20



 

4.7 Consequently this is a priority and the team are committed to developing more 
creative ways of engaging with and encouraging participation of all children and 
young people. However it must be recognised in many cases it is not appropriate for 
the child to attend the Child Protection Conference. The IRO Service Manager has 
requested the Training Department facilitate joint training between the IRO Service 
and the Safeguarding Locality Social Worker teams to look at creative ways we can 
include children. 

 
4.8 The IRO service continues to work with the safeguarding teams, education, the 

Health Visiting services, School Nurses and Midwifery Services to improve practice 
around child protection conferences. The next stage is to work at improving the 
quality of Looked After Children reviews on a multi-agency basis. The IRO Service 
Manager in this period has facilitated training on the Wales Safeguarding Procedures 
and the Outcomes Model. 

 
4.9 Continuous service improvement is always sought after and as such the IRO Service 

aims to continue to have a greater impact in terms of improving the quality of the lives 
of care experienced children and young people.  The IRO Service Action Plan is 
incorporated towards the end of the report and reflects the areas of focus for 
improvement over the 12 months following the timescale of the reporting period for 
the service which will be under constant review. It is contained at the end of the 
annual report. 

 
5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 There are no effects on the policy framework or procedure rules arising from this 

report. 
 

6. Equality Act 2010 implications 
 
6.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic 

Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh language have been considered in the 
preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales, the Council must consider the 
impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions. This is an information report, therefore it is not 
necessary to carry out an Equality Impact assessment in the production of this 
report. It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable equality 
impacts as a result of this report.  

 
7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1 The implementation of the duties and responsibilities under the Social Services and 

Well-being (Wales) Act (SSWBA) 2014, in turn, supports the promotion of two of the 
seven goals of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 within the 
County Borough of Bridgend.  By promoting an environment that maximises people’s 
physical and mental well-being and by supporting children, young people, adults and 
their carers and families to fulfil their potential no matter what their circumstances, 
the well-being goals of a healthier and more equal Bridgend and Wales are 
supported. 

 
7.2 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 provides the basis for driving 

a different kind of public service in Wales, with five ways of working to guide how the 

Page 21



 

Authority should work to deliver well-being outcomes for people.  The following is a 
summary to show how the five ways of working to achieve the well-being goals have 
been considered in this report: 

 

 Long Term – The IRO Service has a legal requirement to assure the quality of 
care planning is achieved for children and young people enabling them to reach 
their full potential in life.   

 Prevention –the IRO service works closely with safeguarding practitioners and 
Early Help services in developing a comprehensive outcome focused plan for the 
child or young person, to maximise their opportunities and identify focused 
support at the earliest stage. 

 Integration – the implementation of the SSWBA requires local authorities to work 
with partners, to ensure care, support and protection of all and more specifically 
its most vulnerable. The report evidences consultation between professionals 
and partner agencies with a specific focus to the safe care planning and 
protection for children and young people within the County Borough of Bridgend. 

 Collaboration – This is currently managed in order to provide the best possible 
intervention for children and young people across Bridgend. 

 Involvement – the key stakeholders are the care experienced children and young 
people of Bridgend. The IRO service’s engagement with these individuals is 
essential to ensure their voices are heard and included in their meetings. The 
IRO service speak to children and young people and utilise consultation 
documents, quality monitoring forms, complaints process and advocacy services 
to support this. The provision of accessible information and advice helps to 
ensure that the voice of children and young people is heard and responded to. 

 
 
8. Financial implications 
 
8.1 There are no specific financial implications arising directly out of this report. 

 
 

9. Recommendation 
 
9.1 It is recommended that the Corporate Parenting Committee notes this report and the 

IRO Service Action plan  
 

 
Claire Marchant 
CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING 
March 2022 

 
 

Contact officer:  Elizabeth Walton-James 
    Group Manager Safeguarding & IAA  

  
 
Telephone:   (01656) 642073  
 
Email:   elizabeth.walton-james@bridgend.gov.uk 
 
Postal address:  Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB 

Page 22



 

 
 
Background documents: 
 
None 
 
 
 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Independent Reviewing Service 

Report between April 2020-March 2021. 

 

 
 

P
age 25



Report Context: 

 Introduction 

 Legal Context 

 Core IRO Functions  

 Composition of IRO Team  

 Reviewing Activity : Child Protection 

 Reviewing Activity : Looked After Children  

 Number of Reviews and timeliness 

 Reviewing Performance 

 Caseload 

 Business Support  
 

General Themes 

 Consultation  

 Case Dispute Resolution and Complaints 

 Achievements & Challenges  

 IRO Service Development and Achievements  

 IRO Service Priorities 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 26



 
Introduction 
 
The Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) service has an authoritative role, in assuring the quality of care planning is achieved.  
The Independent Reviewing Officers Guidance Wales 2004 states this report must identify good practice but must also identify 
issues for further development, including those where urgent action is required. The guidance urges the Local Authority to 
make effective use of the reports from its IRO service so that it can be satisfied that its services can achieve best outcomes 
for the children and young people concerned.  
 
This Independent Reviewing Service report focuses upon the work of the IRO service from April 2020 to March 2021. As part 
of the service`s quality assurance role, the report contains performance information in respect of the statutory reviewing of 
children who are Looked After, including children with plans for Adoption and Young People with Leaving Care LAC/Pathway 
Plans (under 18) by Bridgend County Borough Council. It also includes information on children subject of a child protection 
plan and reviews of these plans at Child Protection Case Conferences.  
 
The report also includes information that relates to regulatory requirements in respect of: resolution case disputes; IRO 
caseloads; participation and consultation of young people in their Reviews, challenges and achievements in the reporting 
period and service priorities for 2020-2021. 

 
Legal Context  
 
The appointment of IRO’s by Local Authorities is a legal requirement and their core functions are governed by the legal 
regulatory framework outlined below: 

 The Adoption and Children Act 2002 detailed the requirements on Local Authorities in respect of the appointment of 
IRO’s 

 The Independent Reviewing Officers Guidance (Wales) 2004 

 Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 

 The Children Act 1989 

 The Children Act 2004 

 The Adoption and Children Act 2002 

 The Human Rights Act 1998 

P
age 27



 The Review of Children’s Cases (Wales) Regulations 2004. 

 Care Planning, Placement and Case Review Regulation 2015 (Wales) 

 
 
Core Functions  
 
The Independent Reviewing Service have an important quality assurance function and works towards ensuring all children 
within the care of Bridgend County Borough Council have a robust effective care plan. This plan is aimed towards improving 
outcomes for children and young people in providing a stable and secure childhood where their health, education and 
emotional well-being is promoted through effective care planning. It is the function of the Independent Reviewing Service to 
ensure the care plan is appropriate and progresses safeguarding for children and young people whilst ensuring all their 
identified needs are being met.  
 
Independent Reviewing Officers are required to independently review the care plans of all Care Experienced children (CEC) 
and those children with a Child Protection Plan and subject of the Child Protection Register (CPR).  The Review meeting will 
include consultation with and attendance of relevant agencies (health, education and Police etc) and will usually include the 
child/young person, their Social Worker, carers and family members. Timescales for Reviews are set out in the Children Act 
1989 & part 6 of the Social Services and Wellbeing Act 2014, with the first Review taking place within 20 working days, the 
next Review is held within three months following the initial and then subsequent Reviews are held six months from the second 
Review. Subsequent Reviews are held every six months unless there has been an unplanned change of placement where a 
Review must be held within 20 working days.  

 
Within Bridgend County Borough Council, the IRO Service has the following roles and responsibilities: 
 

 The IRO service has a statutory responsibility under the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014, Wales 
Safeguarding Procedures and the IRO Guidance for Chairing all Child Protection Conferences and multi-agency Looked 
After Children Reviews, including those children placed for Adoption. 

 

 To review and oversee the effectiveness and the appropriateness of Care Plans for those Children and Young People 
the Council has responsibility for who are subject of a Child Protection Plan and those children and young people within 
its care. 

P
age 28



 
 

 The Independent Reviewing Service are responsible for ensuring all Care Experienced Reviews (CER) and Children 
Protection Conferences take place within compliance as outlined in regulations and to provide a report on each CER to 
include recommendations as to any changes to the child/young person’s Care Plan and to monitor the progress of the 
Care Plan by tracking cases between Reviews. 
 

 To ensure the child/young person’s rights are protected and enhanced. 
 

 To ensure the voice of the child is heard throughout the care planning process and to monitor that the child’s wishes 
and feelings have been recorded and documented throughout the Care Planning process.  
 

 To support and advise through a mentoring and coaching role to social work staff in relation to effective care planning.  
 

 To raise IRO concerns through the agreed Resolution Protocol and to escalate unresolved concerns regarding care 
planning to the appropriate level of the Local Authority’s management structure. To consider the need to seek 
independent legal advice and possible referral of a case to CAFCASS Cymru.  The quality assurance function of the 
IRO service aims to highlight concerns around specific cases and also any trends relating to care planning practice. It 
also has a duty to highlight good practice.  
 

 To ensure all care experienced children and young people are subject to Health Plans to promote their health and 
development. The IRO’s have responsibility to ensure the Health Plans are monitored and meeting the children’s needs 
within the Looked After Children Reviewing process.   
 

 All CEC and young people are subject to a Personal Education Plan (PEP). The Social Worker and School are 
responsible for ensuring this is in place but the child’s IRO will ensure they check this and make a recommendation and 
timescale in the Review should a PEP not be in place. 

  

 Under the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014, the role of the IRO has expanded to cover responsibility for 
the child’s case and the not just the Review and this is set out in the IRO Standards.  
 

P
age 29



Composition of the IRO Service 
 
Over the last year, there have been some changes to the composition of the service. The Independent Reviewing Service 
consists of a full time Team Manager, four full-time and four part-time IRO positions. In this period one part-time IRO has been 
on maternity leave. The service has experienced higher levels of sick leave compared to the last report and this had a 
significant impact on IRO caseloads and the use of agency IROs. 
 
The current IRO cohort have a wealth of experience and all have been qualified Social Workers for a substantial period of 
time. The IRO Service Manager has been in the post since June 2019.  
 
 
Caseloads and Increased Demands 
 
The average full time IRO caseload is currently between 90–100 cases whilst part-time staff are holding average caseloads 
of 65. Although the previous report did not raise any concerns about the numbers of cases held by the IRO’s in Bridgend, the 
pressures placed upon the team due to sickness has highlighted the lack of capacity and resilience across the team during 
these times.  In response to these pressures the Service Manager carried out consultation with IRO services across Wales  
to make comparison of caseloads.  The consultation revealed the IROs in neighbouring authorities have an average caseload 
of 40-70 which is significantly lower than Bridgend.  
 
The Service Manager consulted with IRO Services across Wales and obtained responses from 13 Local Authorities about 
their caseload numbers. In North Wales they have an average of 75 cases per full time IRO. Two of the 5 Local Authorities 
were funding an additional 5 IRO roles to reduce caseload numbers. 
  
Only 2 Local Authorities from Mid Wales responded and their caseloads range from 55-64 per full time IRO. 
In South Wales there is quite a mixed picture with caseloads ranging from 40-100. However, only two other Local Authorities 
have similar caseload numbers to Bridgend and one of these areas said they were not meeting their statutory duties because 
of their high numbers.  
 
Since the writing of the previous IRO annual report the IRO Service has been undertaking its duties largely virtually via MS 
Teams. This has worked well and anecdotally parents and many young people prefer this way of working. As a team we 
have successfully managed to meet our statutory duties in terms of compliance in both the Care and Child Protection arena. 

P
age 30



However, as with many areas within Children’s Social Care, we face a number of challenges and increases in workload 
demands. 

The IRO Standards requires the IRO to undertake far greater levels of tracking in between LAC Reviews, this also includes 
a mid-point review to ensure the recommendations are on-track and to ensure progress is being made and the child’s Care 
Plan continues to reflect their needs. The IROs continue to undertake Quality Assurance documents following every LAC 
Review or CP Conference, this document requires cross reference against the child’s file and is used to identify any 
outstanding pieces of work or documents to which the SW and Team Manager are alerted. 

This tracking and monitoring process requires the IRO to liaise with the SW and often the Team Manager and in some 
cases other professionals. This is a time consuming piece of work, it requires lengthy reading of the child’s file and also 
recording of the discussions held.  

It has been a committed principle of the service to maintain the same IRO wherever possible so that valuable information 
held by IROs, particularly knowledge of the child’s history and family dynamics is not lost. This means that care experienced 
children have had an element of continuity in their lives, with their IRO often being the only person who has remained 
consistent for the child through changes of team structures, placements and often their social workers. IRO are now visiting 
children face to face so need to factor travel time into their week to enable them to do this. 

A priority of the IRO Service as set out in the Action Plan is to increase our rates of consultation with children and young 
people subject to the CPR or being discussed at a Child Protection Conference for the first time. This will also impact on the 
workload of the conference chairs.  

We have seen an increase in the complexity of cases coming through the front door in our Information, Advice and 
Assistance Service (IAA).  This requires more input from the conference chairperson and a greater level of planning and 
preparation prior to the CP conference. 

As a result of the challenges in recruitment and retention in Children’s Services, greater demands have been placed on the 
IRO Service. The combination of changes of Social Worker and the generally lower numbers of Social Workers has required 
the IROs to undertake more tracking, increased rates of initiating concerns, chasing reports/information, addressing areas of  
practice.  

We have seen an increase in unplanned foster placement breakdowns which requires the IRO to chair an additional LAC 
Review within 20 working days, this has increased the workload of the IROs considerably.  

P
age 31



We are also aware the Public Law Outline (PLO) revised guidance will have an impact on the role of conference chair, and 
will require much like LAC cases, a greater emphasis on tracking and monitoring in-between conferences.  

We continue to meet our statutory responsibilities, however many areas of the IRO service have not had the focus we would 
like and we recognise that to continue to improve standards across the board, we need to invest in the staff and provide 
them with the tools and time to undertake their duties to the highest standards. This includes IRO specific training, reflection 
time, and sufficient time in the working day to undertake meaningful work.   

 
Process Improvement 
 
In this period some changes have been implemented to support the LA`s objectives of reducing the length of time children’s 
names remain on the CP register.  

 Monthly meetings between the IRO Service Manager and the Safeguarding Principal Officer (PO) take place to consider 
all the children subject of the CPR for more than 18 months. 

 IRO Service Manager audits all cases of re-registration when the request for an Initial Child Protection Conference 
(ICPC) is received and looks at what lessons can be learnt.  

 Where IRO’s identify cases at the second Review Child Protection Conference (RCPC) where limited progress has been 
made, they inform the PO of their concerns. The PO then examines the case and where appropriate arranges a 
consultation with the Social Worker to consider all options to progress the plan. 

 The IRO Service Manager audits all requests for CP conference to consider themes and potential gaps in support 
services. 

 If a conference chair recommends legal advice should be sought, they will inform the PO to raise awareness of the 
cases being escalated 

 The IRO Service is currently recruiting two additional full time IRO posts to address the challenges raised in this report 
of caseload numbers and this will enable the service to focus more fully on all areas of the IRO role. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 32



Child Protection Register Population. 
 
Children subject to the CPR in this period has continued to fluctuate and the impact of not de-registering any children due to 
Covid can be seen in the figures. Any children who were de-registered between March - September 2020 was as a result of 
them either turning 18 or an Interim Care Order being granted. This explains why there was a reduction and subsequent 
increase in de-registrations in September 2020.  
 
Chart 1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20 Jan-21 Feb-21 Mar-21

CPR at last day of the month 170 174 183 209 218 196 198 211 194 196 192 201

ADDITIONS 9 8 17 31 16 8 24 30 2 16 10 36

DE-REGISTRATIONS 4 4 8 5 7 30 22 17 19 14 14 27

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

0

50

100

150

200

250

CPR Data April 2020-Mar 2021

P
age 33



Chart 2 

                

How many initial conferences took place                
 

               

 ICPC April to Mar that were held & if In Compliance         

In Compliance 

Apr-20 
May-

20 
Jun-
20 

Jul-
20 

Aug-
20 

Sep-
20 

Oct-
20 

Nov-
20 

Dec-
20 

Jan-
21 

Feb-
21 

Mar-
21 

 

Grand 
Total 

% Held In 
Compliance 

No 2 1 1 4 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0  9 

95.38% Yes 9 10 18 25 17 8 20 26 8 11 11 23  186 

Total 11 11 19 29 17 8 20 27 8 11 11 23  195 

 

The IRO Service held 195 ICPCs in this period. All were held within compliance apart from 9. The reasons for the non-
compliance were all due to the IRO Service not receiving the notification from the Childcare and IAA Teams informing the 
decision had been made to proceed to an ICPC. The IRO Service held all ICPC within 15 working days from the point of 
receiving the notification that a conference was required.  

Chart 3 

 
               

 CP Reviews that were held & if In Compliance         

In 
Compliance 

Apr-
20 

May-
20 

Jun-
20 

Jul-
20 

Aug-
20 

Sep-
20 

Oct-
20 

Nov-
20 

Dec-
20 

Jan-
21 

Feb-
21 

Mar-
21  

Grand 
Total 

% Held In 
Compliance 

No 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0  2 

99.61% Yes 39 48 38 39 25 44 50 56 41 57 53 26  516 

Grand Total 39 48 38 39 25 44 50 56 41 58 54 26  518 

 

The IRO Service held 518 RCPCs and only 2 were out of compliance. The reason for the non-compliance in both cases 
were as a result of conference being cancelled on the day due to no reports having been completed by the Social Worker 
and the parents requesting time to read the reports and consult legal advice if they wished. In both of these instances the 
IROs and or the Child Protection clerks had no availability to reconvene within the compliance date.  

P
age 34



Comparing the CPR figures to previous years, less conferences were convened. It is highly likely the Covid pandemic had 
an impact on these figures as there were less opportunities for children to be seen by professionals and the length of time 
the schools were shut naturally would result in less referrals.  

Chart 4 

CPR Categories 

 

        

As can be seen from chart 4, the greatest number of children were placed on the CPR under the category of Neglect.  

In this period we have not had any children registered under the category of Financial Abuse since the introduction of this 
category. 

Neglect 

This means a failure to meet a person’s basic physical, emotional, social or psychological needs, which is likely to result in 
an impairment of the person’s well-being (for example, an impairment of the person’s health). 

94

3

51

124

26

12

6

9

2

14

6

5

2

1

12

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140

Emotional Abuse

Emotional or Psychological & Sexual Abuse

Emotional or Psychological Abuse

Neglect

Neglect & Emotional or Psychological Abuse

Neglect and Physical Abuse

Neglect and Sexual Abuse

Neglect, Physical & Emotional or Psychological Abuse

Neglect, Physical and Sexual Abuse

Physical & Emotional or Psychological Abuse

Physical Abuse

Physical and Emotional Abuse

Physical and Sexual Abuse

Physical, Emotional or Psychological & Sexual Abuse

Sexual Abuse

CP Category Total 2020-21

P
age 35



Physical abuse 

Physical abuse means deliberately hurting a child or young person. It includes: physical restraint; such as being tied to a 
bed, locked in a room, inflicting burns, cutting, slapping, punching, kicking, biting or choking, stabbing or shooting, 
withholding food or medical attention, drugging, denying sleep, inflicting pain, shaking or hitting babies, fabricating or 
inducing illness (FII). 

Emotional or psychological abuse 

This describes physical, sexual, psychological, emotional or financial abuse (and includes abuse taking place in any setting, 
whether in a private dwelling, an institution or any other place). 

Sexual abuse 

There are 2 different types of child sexual abuse. These are called contact abuse and non-contact abuse. Contact abuse 
involves: touching activities where an abuser makes physical contact with a child, including penetration. It includes: sexual 
touching of any part of the body whether the child's wearing clothes or not, rape or penetration by putting an object or body 
part inside a child's mouth, vagina or anus, forcing or encouraging a child to take part in sexual activity, making a child take 
their clothes off, touch someone else's genitals or masturbate. Non-contact abuse involves: non-touching activities, such as 
grooming, exploitation, persuading children to perform sexual acts over the internet and flashing. It includes encouraging a 
child to watch or hear sexual acts, not taking proper measures to prevent a child being exposed to sexual activities by 
others, meeting a child following sexual grooming with the intent of abusing them, online abuse including making, viewing or 
distributing child abuse images allowing someone else to make, view or distribute child abuse images showing pornography 
to a child sexually exploiting a child for money, power or status (child exploitation) 

Financial abuse 

Financial abuse includes theft, fraud, pressure about money, misuse of money. 

 

 

P
age 36



 
Chart 5 
CPR chart showing Gender & Ages         
 

      

 

   

         

Char         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

 

 

 

 

Chart 5 identifies it is male children aged 0-3 years and 4-7 years who are the largest proportion of male children subject to 
Child Protection registration. The smallest age group is 16-17 yrs. These statistics have not changed from the previous year. 

 

 

 

 

 

April May June July August September October November December January February March

0-3 23 25 26 32 36 31 32 34 32 36 35 36

12-15 11 12 12 15 15 13 17 22 18 17 18 19

16-17 7 9 10 9 8 8 9 8 7 6 6 7

4-7 24 23 26 29 31 30 31 31 27 30 33 32

8-11 21 21 23 25 26 21 20 24 23 25 22 21

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Male

P
age 37



Chart 6 identifies some differences for female children on the CPR, similarly to male children the age group 0-3 and 4-7 
feature highly, however, there is a much larger proportion of female children aged 12-15 years subject to the CPR in 
comparison to male children. The female population is much more evenly distributed in terms of age for females than for 
males.  

Chart 6 

CPR chart showing gender and ages  

         
 

          

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

         

April May June July August September October November December January February March

0-3 22 20 20 23 25 24 22 20 18 16 14 18

12-15 19 21 19 22 23 20 19 19 19 17 16 18

16-17 6 6 6 6 5 5 4 3 3 3 3 4

4-7 22 22 22 24 25 24 21 24 22 22 22 24

8-11 15 15 19 24 24 20 23 26 25 23 22 22

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Female

P
age 38



 

 

 

 

Chart 7 records the number of children being re-registered within a year of de-registration. 

               

Re-registration figures within 12 months 
of being De-registered           

               

 April 2020 - March 2021   

Metric Description Apr 
Ma
y  

Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb 
Ma

r 
 

Gran
d 

Total 

The number of 
Children that have 
been previously 
registered under any 
category, at any time 
during the previous 12 
months 0 0 0 1 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0  8 

 

 

       

Any case that returns to an ICPC within 12 months of being de-registered will be audited by the IRO Service Manager to 
scrutinise the processes that were followed and consider themes and any lessons that can be learnt.  

The child who was re-registered in July was a case of domestic abuse, both parents completed all work with the Local 
Authority, however disguised compliance was a concern but no evidence to substantiate this. The child was de-registered as 
there was no evidence of significant harm, however 10 months later there was a further incident of domestic abuse which led 
to a further period of registration. 

The 7 children re-registered in October involved a sibling group of 4 and a sibling group of 3. The risks relating to the sibling 
group of 4 were physical chastisement, emotional abuse and one child being beyond parental control. The family worked well 
with services during the initial period of registration but following de-registration one child alleged being physically assaulted 
by a care giver in the family home. The children were all later accommodated and remain ‘looked after’ to date.  

P
age 39



The risks in the case of the sibling group of 3 was poor home conditions, poor parental mental health, parent’s generally 
feeling overwhelmed and unable to cope. The Social Worker recognised in the second period of registration that there was a 
pattern of the parents working superficially with support services and no meaningful change had been maintained. During the 
second period of registration services worked more intensively with the family, and they were monitored for longer. Prior to 
de-registration services withdrew more slowly and the family were monitored to evidence sustained change while not under 
the strict scrutiny as at the start of the involvement. This approach appeared to be more successful and the children have 
since been de-registered. However, I did note the case was closed at the first Care and Support meeting following de-
registration and not kept open for the recommended 3 months to ensure sustained change without the scrutiny of a Child 
Protection plan. 

Children subject to the CPR for more than 18 months. 

The IRO Service Manager and the Principal Officer (PO) meet on a monthly basis to consider the children who have been 
subject to the CPR for more than 18 months. The IRO Service Manager completes a comprehensive audit of these cases 
prior to the meeting and during the meeting actions are agreed to progress these cases. General themes have become 
apparent from undertaking the audits: 

 No stand-alone Child Protection Plans 

 Core Group meetings not held within time scales 

 No supervision or management oversight 

 Delay in making a Court application where the children are safe with family member/s 

 Older children cases become ‘stuck’ with support either not engaged with or not effecting change and professionals 
unclear about what intervention is required 

 Changes in allocated Social Workers creating a delay while the new Social Worker gets to know the case and the 
family  

 Many of these cases are within the Public Law Outline (PLO) process, however the IRO Service has noted there has 
been a lack of timetabling in this process with many Social Workers not knowing when the next PLO meeting is or 
when they have to complete assessments by. This should be resolved via the new PLO Review guidance which is 
much clearer about the objectives of the PLO process and the timetabling of these cases.  

The lack of stand-alone child protection plans is a concern. This is the document that sets out the objectives, the 
expectations on a parent and what will be provided by Children’s Services and partner agencies to mitigate the identified 
risks. This plan should be provided to all parties and discussed, reviewed and amended at the 4-6 weekly Core Group 

P
age 40



meetings. Without this plan there is no clear direction and simply put, progress cannot be achieved if nobody is clear about 
what the objectives are for the child. The IRO Service identifies all cases that do not have a stand-alone Child Protection 
plan and highlights this to conference and in their Quality Assurance document which informs the Team Manager of the 
child care team. A request has also been made to the Performance and Development Team to collate the numbers of 
children subject to CPR without an up to date plan. 

The IRO Service Manager held discussions with the ICT and Performance Team to consider ways WCCIS could support the 
completion of stand-alone plans for example, preventing the user putting a Core Group document on the system without 
there being a stand-alone and in date Child Protection plan thus preventing the next stage of work while previous work 
remains incomplete. Unfortunately it has recently been confirmed the system doesn’t allow for this currently, but discussions 
are continuing between the IRO Service Manager, ICT and the Business Support Development Officer to find a way forward, 
such as utilising the practitioner Dashboards to embed prompts and alerts. 

There are currently 25 children (12 families) who have been subject to the CPR for 18 months or more.  

One proposal to reduce this number moving forward would be for: 

 Team Managers to ensure they discuss these cases in monthly supervision with the Social Worker 

 The PO to hold a consultation with the Social Worker and the Team Manager for all cases where children have been 
subject to the CPR for 12 months 

 Team manager to ensure they read the IRO QA document which is completed following all conferences as this will 
inform them of out of date or missing documents 

It is also hoped with the implementation of the Care Experienced Team this will free up Social Workers in the Child Care 
Teams to undertake their duties towards children subject to the CPR more robustly and progress their plans more 
effectively.  

The IRO Service now has a procedure of informing the PO at the 2nd RCPC (child will have been subject to the CPR for 
approximately 9 months) if there is risk of drift in the case and or where it is clear the Child Protection Plan isn’t effecting 
positive change and reducing risk. This has been working well and the PO will then ensure he discusses these cases in 
supervision with the Childcare Team Manager. 

  

 

P
age 41



 

 

Children’s participation at Child Protection Review Conferences.  

Children’s participation at their ICPC and RCPC is hugely important, however it is recognised it may not be appropriate for 
children or young people to attend any or all of the meetings but there are mechanisms in place to enable them to attend part 
of the meeting and meet with the chairperson separately. This is an area for improvement in Bridgend as it is only a very small 
proportion of children and young people who are attending their meetings. The Wales Safeguarding Procedures have placed 
greater emphasis on the importance of the child’s attendance at their conference.  

The IRO Service is committed to consulting with young people subject to the Child Protection Register, however this will 
require greater coordination with the Child Care Teams. Many children subject to the Child Protection Register do not know 
they are subject to such meetings. The IRO Service Manager has raised this with the Training Department and requested joint 
training with Social Workers in the Child Care Teams around how they are explaining the Child Protection process to children, 
advocacy and how we can include them in their Child Protection Conference. IROs are now routinely making contact with the 
Social Workers to ascertain what the young person’s understanding is of their situation and making contact with the young 
person where appropriate. As detailed earlier, the Performance and Development team were not able to provide data around 
children’s participation in their conferences due to the new forms and difficulties extracting this information. They hope to 
resolve this issue and provide this data for next year’s report. 

The Performance and Development Team were not able to provide data around children’s participation in their reviews due 
to the changes in the forms following the Outcomes Model being implemented.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 42



Care Experienced 

All children who are placed with Foster Carers are allocated a named IRO on the same day the IRO Service receive the 
notification from the Childcare Teams.  

Care Experienced population 

Chart 8 

  

  

  

  

Chart 8 details the number of care admissions and discharges between April 2020-March 2021. Given this period was 
during the height of the Covid pandemic it is pleasing to see there wasn’t a significant fluctuation in the number of children 
and YP being accommodated by the Local Authority. The monthly average figure in this period was 392 children, in 
comparison to the previous year there was an increase of 8 children who were looked after.  

 

Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20 Jan-21 Feb-21 Mar-21

LAC at last day of the month 394 394 392 395 399 396 388 394 393 385 393 390

Children become looked after in the month 5 8 3 8 10 4 4 12 5 4 11 4

Children ceased to be looked after in the month 5 8 5 5 6 7 12 6 6 12 3 7

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

375

380

385

390

395

400

405

LAC Data April 2020-Mar 2021

P
age 43



Chart 9 

How many LAC reviews took place               

                
 April 2020 - March 2021  

Grand Total % Held In Compliance In Compliance 
Apr May  Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

 
No 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 2 0 0  5 

99.57% Yes 95 82 129 88 89 85 102 124 117 81 41 121  1154 

Total 95 82 129 88 89 85 102 125 119 83 41 121 
 

1159 

 

As can be seen from the above data, 5 children’s reviews were outside of the timescale. One was due to IRO error in 
calculating the next date and this was subsequently not identified by the LAC clerks. The other 4 were a result of the Social 
Worker not informing the IRO Service of a significant change in the child’s circumstances requiring a LAC Review within 20 
working days. Given this period has been during a pandemic resulting in remote working, the compliance figure of 99.57% of 
LAC reviews being held within compliance is very pleasing. The previous year the figure of out of compliance LAC Reviews 
was 17 so this is a significant improvement.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 44



Chart 10 

Care Experienced Children Male and Age. 

 

          

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

As can be seen from chart 10 for male CEC, the greatest age group continues to be 12-15 years. This data set replicates 
last year’s data.  

       

     

 

 

 

 

 

April May June July August September October November December January February March

0-3 45 42 42 45 48 47 48 49 47 46 48 45

4-7 32 33 32 31 32 33 33 35 36 33 32 35

8-11 45 45 45 46 43 42 42 40 40 40 39 40

12-15 62 61 64 64 66 67 67 71 72 70 71 70

16-17 27 29 27 26 26 26 23 21 20 21 21 20

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Male

P
age 45



Chart 11 

         
 

          

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

                  

As can be seen above, the female population mimics the male population in terms of age figures, with 12-15 
being the highest. However, for female CEC there is less disparity then between the other age groupings.  

          

         

Advocacy. 

In the period of Apr-Sept 2020 a total of 135 referrals were made to Tros Gynnal Plant Advocacy Service for ongoing advocacy 
support. Of the 135 referrals, 72 were in respect of CEC, 47 children subject to child protection, 14 Care and Support and 2 
Care Leavers. This is an overall reduction from the previous year of 203 referrals, however this was to be expected given 
children were seen less during the lockdown periods, they were not in schools and Social Work visits were less frequent. 
Some children may have also refused advocacy support during this time as the support was provided via virtual platforms and 
they may not have wanted to engage in this way. 

Some positive feedback was received from young people about the advocacy support they received including: 

“I have someone who will speak to people about my feelings and opinions” 

April May June July August September October November December January February March

0-3 41 40 39 41 41 40 40 41 38 37 37 36

4-7 30 29 29 29 28 27 27 27 28 28 29 27

8-11 40 40 38 37 41 41 40 40 40 40 42 41

12-15 44 44 44 45 44 44 41 41 43 42 45 47

16-17 28 31 32 31 30 29 27 29 29 28 29 29

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45
50

Female

P
age 46



“It’s good to tell my Social worker how I am feeling” 

 

It remains a priority for the IRO Service to ensure all children involved in the child protection process or care experienced 
children have the opportunity to access advocacy support. The IRO’s ensure they discuss this when they consult with children 
and young people. They raise the issue of advocacy at all meetings and record advocacy numbers in the quality assurance 
audits. The IRO’s ensure every child or young person receives an Active Offer for Advocacy services. The Active Offer ensures 
the Social Worker has explained what Advocacy is and how it can support them. Children and young people who become 
looked after and/ or are being discussed at a Child Protection Conference are entitled to receive an Active Offer of advocacy 
support. However, the Active Offer should be consistently and regularly revisited with children and young people. 

Business Support. 

Business Support have continued to support the core functions of the IRO Service during this period and have done so by 
adapting to new ways of working due to Covid restrictions. The IRO Service and Business Support have a quarterly interface 
meeting to address any challenges and monitor any issues of compliance.  

Team Meetings 

During this period and as a result of the pandemic some meetings with external agencies have been placed on hold, however 
the IRO has had monthly interface meetings with Western Bay Adoption Service and monthly quality assurance meetings with 
partners in Cwm Taff Morgannwg. Once restrictions allow for face to face meetings to resume the IRO will meet on a quarterly 
basis with CAFCASS Cymru We would usually plan for the Head of Service to attend the IRO Service Team Meetings on a 
quarterly basis but during the pandemic this has not been achievable at this frequency.  

Case Dispute Resolution and Complaints 

In this period the IRO’s monitored 1 case under the IRO resolution protocol. One case relates to a child residing under PWP 
regulations and the concerns are around drift and a lack of assessment. This case has since been resolved and the IRO 
protocol has ended.  

There were no complaints in relation to Child Protection Conferences that required resolution via an independent panel. 

Changes were made to the electronic consultation document and it was hoped the process was more user friendly ensuring 
children and young people are engaging in their reviews and their voices are being heard throughout the care planning 

P
age 47



process. The IRO Service Manager has worked with the Fostering Team to consider ways foster carers would assist in children 
completing consultations questionnaires more frequently. The Fostering Team now discuss this during supervision with their 
carers to ensure it stays on the agenda and is encouraged.  

IRO Quality Assurance Audit 

The IRO’s complete quality assurance audits after every LAC Review and CP Conference. The quality assurance audit form 
provides data on practice standards and captures data and information relating to the IRO standards. Once completed by the 
IRO following the meeting, the form automatically goes to the Safeguarding Team Manager of the case holding team for their 
scrutiny and management oversight. This form also alerts the Safeguarding Team Manager to any outstanding pieces of work, 
compliance issues and identifies areas of good practice and this has continued during this period. 

In this period the IRO Service Manager has been involved in facilitating training to Social Workers and partner agencies on 
the Wales Safeguarding Procedures. This has involved facilitating sections of the training around Conferences, Core Groups 
and major changes from the All Wales Child Protection Procedures. 

The IRO Service Manager also sits on the Cwm Taf Morgannwg Quality and Performance sub-group. This group undertakes 
audits and seeks to identify themes, learning and improve practice. In this period a Domestic Abuse audit was undertaken 
and at our next meetings we will share the learning from this. The shared learning event has been delayed due to the Covid 
pandemic.    

IRO Standards 

The IRO guidance and practice standards were introduced at the beginning of 2019 by the Association for Fostering and 
Adoption (AFA) Cymru funded by Welsh Government. On behalf of the Ministerial Advisory Group for Improving Outcomes 
for Children. IRO’s have worked to improve tracking and monitoring as advised within the Practice Standards and Good 
Practice Guide. Arrangements for Independent legal advice for IRO’s have been agreed with a reciprocal arrangement 
between Bridgend and Neath Port Talbot legal departments. The IRO’s have accessed this support on a number of occasions. 
However, the standards have introduced a new process to completing CERs which includes the involvement of the Team 
Managers.  This is achieved when the IRO sends the Team Manager the meeting recommendations within 5 days of 
completing the Review and that Team Manager has 5 days to respond to these recommendations. This is now embedded 
and working well within the service quickly identifying any area of disagreement and enabling these issues to be resolved at 
the earliest stage. IROs are holding mid-point meetings with the allocated Social Worker and this is also supporting the 
identification of drift early.  

P
age 48



 

Challenges 

Consultation with children and young people needs to be improved to ensure their voice is being heard. Whilst the IRO’s have 
worked to improve the consultation document for children and young people, challenges remain in encouraging them to 
complete the document. It is a priority for the IRO Service to develop creative ways of engaging and encouraging participation 
of all children and young people. The development of an App has been placed on hold due to the Covid pandemic. 

Some young people have informed their IRO that they prefer consultation via a virtual platform and now these systems are in 
place moving forward the IRO’s will be able to give greater choice to children about how they discuss their wishes and feelings. 

CAFCASS Cymru 
 

The IRO service has a direct relationship with CAFCASS Cymru and can, if required, refer matters of concern or report directly 
to CAFCASS Cymru where deficits in care planning for care experienced young people cannot be resolved locally but are 
sufficiently significant as to impact on the outcomes for children and young people. To date, the IRO service has had no cause 
to refer to CAFCASS Cymru but liaises with them regularly on individual cases within the public law arena.  IROs in Bridgend 
work to a standard that has improved liaison between the CAFCASS Cymru children’s guardians and Safeguarding Social 
Workers within family proceedings. As a result, IROs are alerted more quickly to issues arising in the court process and can 
liaise at an earlier stage where disputes arise with the Local Authority. This relationship enables the means to communicate 
issues arising directly with the IRO that are relevant to the on‐going development and monitoring of a care plan, either during 
proceedings or following an order being granted. A CAFCASS Cymru IRO event is planned for February 2022 to support the 
strengthening of relationships and further develop our processes for improved collaborative working. 

Service Priorities 

 To increase the contact between the IRO with children and young people.  

 To work alongside safeguarding colleagues to achieve permanency for all children and reduce the numbers of care 
experienced children within a safe and appropriate plan. 

 The development of child consultation and participation through a more accessible medium. 

 To work alongside Safeguarding Teams and SCWDP to improve practice around Looked After Children Reviews 
and the Care Planning Process. 

 To ensure appropriate care plans are progressing in a timely manner to prevent and avoid drift in children’s cases.  

P
age 49



 To continue to focus on increasing participation of children and young people at their meetings.  

 To ensure every care experienced child and young person has a stand-alone and in date Care Plan. 

 To collate thematic practice issues identified from the QA’s and use these to develop learning themes and improve 
practice 

 IROs will continue to promote advocacy services and the active offer to children and young people and make these 
referrals where consent has been given to support the child/young person’s voice. 

Please see below service priorities Action Plan 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Independent Reviewing Service Action Plan 2021/2022 

IRO Service 

 Owner Due 
date 

Recommendation Action Evidence Update Last 
RAG 

RAG 

 1 IRO Service 
Manager and 
each IRO. 

Sept 
2021 

To increase the 
contact between the 
IRO with children 
and young people.  

 

IRO Service 
Manager will 
continue to be 
involved in the 
progress of the 
MUSE App. 

IRO Service 
Manager will 
attend all 
consultation 
meetings in 
relation to the 
development of 
this APP. 

Due to the Covid 
pandemic work focussing 
on a consultation APP 
ceased and is yet to be 
restarted. 
 
However, progress has 
been noted in terms of 

Amber Amber 

B Completed 

R 
A problem needs serious attention and 
action now 

A 
Issues are being managed and if 
addressed should not affect delivery 

G 
On track, in progress, any minor risks/ 
issues being managed 

NYS Not Yet Started 

P
age 50



Each IRO will 
ensure they give 
the child/YP the 
opportunity to 
meet with them to 
discuss their LAC 
review or CP 
Conference. 

 
Data collection of 
consultation rates 
will be included in 
the 6 monthly 
IRO Report. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

IRO consultation with 
young people and this is 
felt to be as a result of 
virtual platforms being 
preferred by many children 
and teenagers.  
 
Low rates of consultation 
documents. Service 
Manager has liaised with 
the Fostering Team to ask 
Foster Carers to 
encourage the children in 
their care to complete the 
consultation form. The 
Fostering Team have 
made it a standing point of 
discussion at their Foster 
Carers supervision, 
however, we have yet to 
see an improvement in the 
return rates. 
 
  

2. IRO Service 
Manager and 
each IRO. 

Sept 
2021 

To work alongside 
safeguarding 
colleagues to 
achieve permanency 
for all children and 
reduce the numbers 
of care experienced 
children within a 
safe and appropriate 
plan. 

 

IROs to check at 
the 2nd LAC 
Review the plan 
for the child is 
clear. If the plan 
isn’t clear, the IRO 
will track the case 
and inform the 
appropriate 
Safeguarding 
Team Manager. 

IRO Service 
Manager to 
attend the LAC 
reduction 
Strategy Meeting 
held on a bi-
monthly basis. 
 
IRO Service 
Manager will 
identify any 
children who may 
be suitable for 

This process is currently 
working well. IRO Service 
Manager has identified a 
number of cases where 
alternative care options 
could be considered 
resulting in the child no 
longer being Looked After. 
 
In IRO Supervision the 
IRO Team Manager 
ensures discussion takes 
place around the children 

Green Green 

P
age 51



IROs to ensure 
they consider all 
appropriate 
options for care 
experienced 
children such as 
SGOs. 

alternative 
Orders and will 
discuss this with 
the allocated 
IRO.  

who have been identified 
as possible candidates for 
an alternative Order such 
as a Special Guardianship 
Order which would end 
their LAC status. 
The IRO Service Manager 
attends the bi-monthly 
LAC Reduction Strategy 
meetings and provides 
updates. 
 
Cases where there isn’t a 
permanency plan at the 
second review are due to 
care proceedings not 
being finalised.  

3. IRO Service  
Manager 

Sept 
2021 

The development of 
child and young 
persons consultation 
and participation 
through a more 
accessible medium. 

 

IRO Service 
Manager will 
continue to be 
involved in the 
progress of the 
MUSE APP. 

Each IRO will 
ensure they give 
the child/YP the 
opportunity to 
meet with them to 
discuss their LAC 
review or CP 
Conference. 

IRO Service  
Manager will 
attend all 
consultation 
meetings in 
relation to the 
development of 
this APP. 
 
Data collection of 
consultation rates 
will be included in 
the 6 monthly 
IRO Report. 

Due to the Covid 
pandemic work focussing 
on a consultation APP 
ceased and is yet to be 
restarted. 
 
 
However, progress has 
been noted in terms of 
IRO consultation with 
young people and this is 
felt to be as a result of 
virtual platforms being 
preferred by many children 
and teenagers.  
 
Low rates of consultation 
documents. Service 
Manager has liaised with 
the Fostering Team to ask 

NYS NYS 

P
age 52



Foster Carers to 
encourage the children in 
their care to complete the 
consultation form. The 
Fostering Team have 
made it a standing point of 
discussion at their Foster 
Carers supervision, 
however, we have yet to 
see an improvement in the 
return rates. 
 

4. IRO Service 
Manager and 
each IRO. 

Sept 
2021 

To work alongside 
Safeguarding 
Teams and SCWDP 
to improve practice 
around care 
experienced children 
and their meetings. 

 

IROs will ensure 
they complete the 
IRO Quality 
Assurance 
document 
following every 
LAC Review. This 
will automatically 
be sent to the 
Safeguarding 
Team Manager for 
their scrutiny. 

Should the IRO 
identify concerning 
practice, they will 
raise this with the 
IRO Service 
Manager and the 
Safeguarding 
Team Manager. 
They will track the 
progress to a 
resolution and 
initiate the IRO 

The rates of 
completed QA 
forms will 
increase in the 
next year and the 
data will be 
included in the 
IRO 6 month 
report. 
IRO Service 
Manager will 
attend all IRO 
protocol 
Meetings to 
support the IROs 
and facilitate 
resolution. 
 
  

IRO Service Manager 
continues to raise cases of 
concern with the individual 
Social Workers, their 
Team Managers and the 
PO where appropriate. 
 
IRO Service Manager 
continues to present 
training alongside the 
training department and is 
facilitating introductory 
sessions to new starters 
and newly qualified staff. 

Green Green 

P
age 53



Protocol where 
necessary.  

IRO Service 
Manager will 
facilitate training 
alongside the 
Training 
Department to 
support and 
improve practice. 

IRO Service 
Manager will 
facilitate induction 
sessions to new 
starters and newly 
qualified Social 
Workers to support 
their professional 
development.  

5. IRO Service  
Manager and 
each IRO. 

Sept 
2021 

To ensure 
appropriate care 
plans are 
progressing in a 
timely manner to 
prevent and avoid 
drift in children’s 
cases.  

 

At every LAC 
Review the IRO 
will check the child 
has a Care Plan 
that is up to date 
and meets the 
child’s needs. The 
IRO will 
recommend at 
each LAC Review 
that the Care Plan 
is updated to 
reflect the changes 
agreed at the 

The rates of IRO 
Quality 
Assurance forms 
being completed 
is increasing and 
this will continue 
moving forward. 
 
IROs are holding 
mid-point 
meetings for 
each child who is 
Looked After, 
however, there 
are times the 
child’s SW does 

In this period the IROs 
identified all children 
whose Care Plan was out 
of date and informed the 
respective Social Workers 
and Team Managers and 
provided a timescale for 
completion. On the whole 
progress was made but 
not in every case. IROs 
will continue to monitor all 
children’s Care Plans and 
where there is a Care Plan 
that is out of date or not 
reflective of the child’s 
circumstances they will 

Amber 
 

Green 

P
age 54



current LAC 
Review. 

 

The IRO will track 
each child and 
ensure their Care 
Plan has been 
updated. The IRO 
will hold mid-point 
meetings to 
prevent drift and 
take action where 
drift is identified.  

Each IRO will 
complete the IRO 
Quality Assurance 
form following 
each LAC review 
as this informs the 
SW and their 
Team Manager of 
any out of date 
Care Plans. 

not respond. In 
these cases the 
IRO will raise this 
with their Service 
Manager and the 
safeguarding 
Team Manager. 

raise this appropriately 
and track to ensure 
completion.  
 
 
IRO Service Manager 
ensures when attending 
the LAC Reduction 
Strategy meeting and 
monthly Performance 
meeting that for any child 
who is discussed, the date 
of their Care Plan is 
checked to ensure it is up 
to date and where not it is 
flagged with the 
Safeguarding Team 
Manager.    

6. IRO Service 
Manager and 
each IRO. 

Sept 
2021 

To continue to focus 
on increasing 
consultation and 
participation of 
children and young 
people at Looked 
After Children 
Reviews.  

 

IROs to ensure 
they offer to 
consult with each 
LAC child as 
appropriate for 
their age and level 
of understanding 
and to use a 
means of 
communication 
that the child 

The IRO Quality 
Assurance form 
captures the 
consultation data 
and this will be 
included in IRO 6 
month report. 
 
IRO Service  
Manager will 
during 

Since Covid restrictions 
have been in place IROs 
have found many young 
people prefer to be 
consulted via virtual 
means such as Skype. 
 
IROs report many young 
people have attended their 
LAC reviews while in the 
lock down period as they 

N/A Amber 

P
age 55



choses. This 
includes face to 
face meeting, 
phone, Skype and 
MS Teams. 

supervision 
sessions discuss 
the importance of 
consultation and 
ensure it remains 
a priority for each 
IRO. 

have had greater 
availability to attend. 
 
IRO Service Manager has 
added consultation as a 
supervision agenda item to 
ensure it is discussed in 
supervision sessions with 
each IRO. 

7. IRO Service 
Manager and 
each IRO. 

Sept 
2021 

To ensure every 
care experienced 
child and young 
person has a stand-
alone and in date 
Care Plan. 

 

At every LAC 
Review the IRO 
will check the child 
has a Care Plan 
that is up to date 
and meets the 
child’s needs. The 
IRO will 
recommend at 
each LAC Review 
that the Care Plan 
is updated to 
reflect the changes 
agreed at the 
current LAC 
Review. 

The IRO will track 
each child and 
ensure their Care 
Plan has been 
updated. The IRO 
will hold mid-point 
meetings to 
prevent drift and 
take action where 
drift is identified.  

The rates of IRO 
Quality 
Assurance forms 
being completed 
is increasing and 
this will continue 
moving forward. 
 
IROs are holding 
mid-point 
meetings for 
each child who is 
Looked After, 
however, there 
are times the 
child’s SW does 
not respond. In 
these cases the 
IRO will raise this 
with their Team 
Manager and the 
safeguarding 
Team Manager. 

In this period the IROs 
identified all children 
whose Care Plan was out 
of date and informed the 
respective Social Workers 
and Team Managers and 
provided a timescale for 
completion. On the whole 
progress was made but 
not in every case. IROs 
will continue to monitor all 
children’s Care Plans and 
where there is a Care Plan 
that is out of date or not 
reflective of the child’s 
circumstances they will 
raise this appropriately 
and track to ensure 
completion.  
 
 
IRO Service Manager 
ensures when attending 
the LAC Reduction 
Strategy meeting and 
monthly Performance 
meeting that for any child 
who is discussed, the date 

Amber 
 

Green 

P
age 56



Each IRO will 
complete the IRO 
Quality Assurance 
form following 
each LAC review 
as this informs the 
SW and their 
Team Manager of 
any out of date 
Care Plans. 

of their Care Plan is 
checked to ensure it is up 
to date and where not that 
this is flagged with the 
Safeguarding Team 
Manager.    

8. IRO Service 
Manager and 
each IRO 

Sept 
2021 

To collate thematic 
practice issues 
identified from the 
QA’s and use these 
to develop learning 
themes and improve 
practice. 
 

The data will be 
scrutinised for the 
6 monthly IRO 
Report.   

 

Any practice 
themes identified 
will be provided 
to the Training 
Department and 
Team Managers 
at the weekly 
Team Meeting. 
 
If required the 
IRO Service 
Manager will be 
available to 
support the 
Training Team in 
facilitating 
training sessions 
to address these 
deficits. 

The Quality Assurance 
forms are being used 
currently to identify out of 
date Care Plans as a 
theme and this is being 
addressed by the IROs 
with the Social Workers 
and their Team Managers. 

NYS Green 
 

9. IRO Service 
Manager and 
each IRO. 

Sept 
2021 

IROs will continue to 
make children and 
young people aware 
of the advocacy 
service. 

 

This is currently 
monitored via the 
IRO Quality 
Assurance form 
and will be 
scrutinised for the 

The referral 
numbers to Tros 
Gynnal from 
Bridgend are the 
highest in the 
Western Bay 
area. 

Advocacy referral rates 
continue to be pleasing 
with 135 children having 
been referred in this 
period. 

Green Green 

P
age 57



 IRO 6 month 
report. 

IROs will ensure 
when consulting 
with young people 
they ask if they 
would like the 
support of the 
Advocacy Service. 

IRO Service 
Manager will liaise 
with the Group 
Manager for Case 
Management and 
Transition 
periodically to 
check the referral 
rates have not 
decreased. 

 
IROs report good 
evidence of 
advocacy 
discussions and 
offers being 
made between 
Social Workers 
and Children. 

 

 

Author: Raeanna Grainger 
Independent Reviewing Service Manager 
 

 

     

 

 

 

 

P
age 58



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO CABINET COMMITTEE CORPORATE PARENTING  
 

2 MARCH 2022 
 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF OFFICER - FINANCE PERFORMANCE AND CHANGE 
 

HOUSING FOR CARE EXPERIENCED CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 
 
1. Purpose of report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide information to the corporate parenting 

committee regarding the work being undertaken with regards to care experienced 
children and young people and their future accommodation needs. 
 

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities 
 

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objective/objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015: 

 

 Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - 
taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives. 
 

 Smarter use of resources – ensure that all  resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives. 

 
3. Background 
 
3.1 All Welsh Councils have recently been tasked by Welsh Government to examine 

their corporate parenting response in relation to care experienced children and 
young people and their future accommodation needs. 

 
3.2 Care leavers in Wales have a range of entitlements set out in social services 

legislation to ensure that they are properly accommodated. These are detailed in 
Appendix A to this report. 
 

4. Current situation/proposal 
 
4.1 In response to the legislation, Councils should respond to the need for: 
 

 An active identification process to ensure care experienced young people 

presenting as homeless can access all the support they are entitled to in 

cooperation with children services; 

 

Page 61

Agenda Item 6



 
 

 Multi agency reviews to be undertaken to identify any gaps within the system 

or interventions that could have taken place to ensure future similar cases 

are prevented for care experienced young people presenting as homeless; 

  

 Granting local connection status for care experienced young people who are 

placed out of county when moving on ; and 

 

 Extending Personal Adviser support up to the age of 25 

 
4.2 Work has been undertaken across housing and social care to consider current joint 

working and commissioning practises. Whilst joint working does take place across 
these services in relation to this matter, more detailed work is required. It is 
proposed that the work will be classified under the following headings:  

 

 Corporate outcomes 

 

 Commissioning 

 

 Joint working 

 

 Projecting need 

  

 The experience for young people 

The details of the work to be undertaken are contained in the action plan within 
Appendix A 
 

4.3 To progress this action plan a working group is to be established consisting of 
officers across social care and the housing service. The first meeting of this group 
will agree terms of reference, agree the ongoing membership of the group including 
which external agencies could be involved with this work and agree timelines for 
completion of the works included within the action plan. 

 
5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 There is no impact on the policy framework and procedure rules. 

 
6. Equality Act 2010 implications  
 
6.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic Duty 

and the impact on the use of the Welsh language have been considered in the 
preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales, the Council must consider the 
impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies,  
strategies, services and functions. This is an information report, therefore it is not 
necessary to carry out an EIA in the production of this report. It is considered that 
there will be no significant or unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this 
report. 

             
 

Page 62



 
 

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1 The implementation of the duties and responsibilities under the Social Services and 

Wellbeing (Wales) Act (SSWBA) 2014, in turn, supports the promotion of two of the 
seven goals of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 within the 
County Borough of Bridgend. By promoting an environment that maximises people’s 
physical and mental well-being and by supporting children, young people, adults and 
their carers and families to fulfil their potential no matter what their circumstances, 
the wellbeing goals of a healthier and more equal Bridgend and Wales are supported.   

 
7.2 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 provides the basis for driving 

a different kind of public service in Wales, with five ways of working to guide how the 
Authority should work to deliver wellbeing outcomes for people. The following is a 
summary to show how the five ways of working to achieve the well-being goals have 
been considered in this report:  

 

  Long term: The improved service will ensure the Council is better placed to 
meet the needs of the current and future looked after children population.  

 

  Prevention: Improved planning between departments and agencies will 
prevent care experienced young people from experiencing homelessness.  

 

  Integration: Improved planning for care experienced young people is 
integrated across the authority  

 

  Collaboration: Collaboration will be critical to achieving the best outcomes for 
care experienced young people.   

 

  Involvement: The knowledge of care experienced young people will be key to 
informing the work that needs to be undertaken. 

 
8. Financial implications 
 
8.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report.  

 
9. Recommendation(s) 
 
9.1 It is recommended that the Corporate Parenting Committee note the content of this 

report 
 

Carys Lord 
Chief Officer Finance, Performance And Change 
February 2022 

 
 

Contact officer:  Carys Lord 
 Chief Officer, - Finance, Performance and Change 

 
Telephone:   (01656) ) 643249 
 
Email:   carys.lord@bridgend.gov.uk 
 

Page 63



 
 

 
Background documents:  
 
None 
 
 
 

Page 64



 

 

30th January 2022 

 
 
  

Housing for Care Experienced Children 
& Young People (16-25) 
A corporate response – Bridgend Council 
 

Page 65



Passionate about public service 

Housing for Care Experienced Children & Young People (16-25) 

 

  
1 

Contents 
Introduction ......................................................................................... 2 

Key Findings & Information ................................................................. 2 

Existing and emerging policy ................................................................................................... 2 

The Housing Wales Act 2014 (HWA 2014) ............................................................................. 3 

The Social Services & Wellbeing Act 2014 .............................................................................. 4 

The Southwark Judgement ...................................................................................................... 4 

The Programme for Government ............................................................................................. 4 

Good practice ...................................................................................... 6 

Joint working and joint commissioning in BCBC ................................. 7 

Appendix 1:  Care Leavers accommodation and support framework . 8 

Page 66



Passionate about public service 

Housing for Care Experienced Children & Young People (16-25) 

 

  
2 

Introduction 

All Welsh Council’s including Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) have recently been 

tasked by Welsh Government to examine their corporate parenting response in relation to 

care experienced children and young people (CYP) and their future accommodation needs.  

Specifically, it requests that council`s respond to the need for: 

 An active identification process to ensure care experienced young people presenting 

as homeless can access all the support they are entitled to in cooperation with 

children’s services. 

 Multi-agency reviews to be undertaken to identify any gaps within the system or 

interventions that could have taken place to ensure future similar cases are prevented 

for care experienced young people presenting as homeless; 

 Granting ‘local connection’ status for care experienced young people who are placed 

out-of-county, when moving on; 

 Extending Personal Adviser support up to the age of 25. 

 

To enable BCBC to consider its future response to the needs of care experienced CYP the 

following activities were undertaken in January 2022:  

 

 A desktop appraisal of existing and emerging policy 

 A desktop appraisal of good practice 

 A facilitated workshop with BCBC housing and social services managers 

 Self-assessments in relation to joint working and joint commissioning 

 A review of previous work undertaken for BCBC in relation to homeless 16 & 17 year 

olds. 

 

 

 

 

 

Key Findings & Information 

Existing and emerging policy 

Page 67



Passionate about public service 

Housing for Care Experienced Children & Young People (16-25) 

 

  
3 

The last 6 years have seen significant changes in the Welsh legislative and policy landscape 

relating to young people at risk of homelessness, in a context where both Housing and 

Homelessness are identified as top priorities within the current Welsh Government 

Programme for Government.  

 

Care leavers in Wales have a range of entitlements set out in social services legislation to 

ensure that they are properly housed. In addition, care leavers receive some additional 

support through the general homelessness legislation. This section sets out the key 

legislation/case law and its intended impact. 

 

The Housing Wales Act 2014 (HWA 2014) 

The HWA 2014 requires local housing authorities to work alongside other public authorities 

and voluntary sector to ensure that services are designed to meet the needs of groups at 

particular risk of homelessness – including young people. 

 

Duty to Collaborate 
Section 60 of HWA 2014 requires local housing authorities to work alongside other public 

authorities and the voluntary sector to ensure that the service is designed to meet the needs 

of groups at particular risk of homelessness.  Such groups include people leaving prison or 

youth detention accommodation and young people leaving care. 

 

Duty to Prevent Homelessness  
The emphasis on prevention in the HWA 2014 is supported by a number of programmes and 

policy areas such as the Housing Support Grant Programme, the Social Services & 

Wellbeing Act 2014, The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, Violence 

against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Act 2015 and Offender 

Rehabilitation Act 2014.  

  

Page 68



Passionate about public service 

Housing for Care Experienced Children & Young People (16-25) 

 

  
4 

The Social Services & Wellbeing Act 2014 

The current legal and policy framework for looked after children and care leavers in Wales is 

primarily drawn from the Children Act 1989 and the Children Leaving Care Act 2000. Support 

currently offered to care leavers in Wales includes: structured pathway planning from care to 

independence; the right to a personal advisor; and support to find suitable accommodation 

and access education and training. 

 

The Social Services & Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 (SSWBA 2014) – places a greater 

emphasis on ensuring services are more person centred, promoting independence and 

reducing reliance on more intensive services.  One of the SSWBA 2014 National Wellbeing 

Outcome Areas – covers the suitability of living accommodation. 

 

 ‘I live in a home that best supports me to achieve my wellbeing’  

 

Section 37 contains the duty to provide care and support for a CYP in the local authority’s 

area if s/he has an eligible need for care and support. These include the powers to 

accommodate and support the CYP’s carers and other family members. 

 

The Southwark Judgement 

In May 2009, the House of Lords made a landmark judgement in the case of R (G) v London 

Borough of Southwark 57 which affects how local authorities provide accommodation and 

support for homeless 16 and 17-year-olds. The judgement ruled that: 

 the primary duty to a homeless 16 or 17-year-old is under the Social Services and 

Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014, and the ongoing duty to accommodate and support that 

young person will fall to children’s services. This will include the range of support 

available as a looked after child and a care leaver. 

 a homeless 16 or 17-year-old who applies to a housing authority should be provided with 

interim accommodation under the homelessness legislation. They should then be referred 

to children’s services for an assessment of their needs under section 21 of the Social 

Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014. 

 

 

The Programme for Government 

The Programme for Government outlines key commitments to legislate in line with the key 

recommendations in the documents below in relation to homelessness and care experienced 

young people. Specifically Welsh Government has committed to: 

 

 Explore radical reform of current services for looked after children and care leavers; 

Page 69



Passionate about public service 

Housing for Care Experienced Children & Young People (16-25) 

 

  
5 

 Fundamentally reform homelessness services to focus on prevention, rapid rehousing 

and; 

 Support innovative housing developments to meet care needs 

 Improve joint working across housing and social services, utilising corporate parenting 

responsibilities  

 

 

   
 

 

More details on the policy context and legal framework are available in Annex 1 in this link. 

  

   

 

 

 

  

  

Page 70

https://www.barnardos.org.uk/sites/default/files/uploads/Care%20leavers%20accommodation%20and%20support%20framework%20for%20Wales%20October%202016%20%28PDF%29.pdf


Passionate about public service 

Housing for Care Experienced Children & Young People (16-25) 

 

  
6 

Good practice 

The Care leavers accommodation and support framework for Wales  (Appendix 1) 

outlines several good practice examples in line with the five areas below 

 Prepare for reality of housing options 

 Plan young people’s accommodation and support options with them 

 Reduce housing crisis 

 Access housing and support as needed 

 Access and successfully manage longer-term move on options and support options 

 

Specific good practice examples that might be of interest to BCBC in relation to multi 
agency approaches 

 

Project Details 

Getting Ready 

A collaborative project between Children in Wales, Voices from Care 

Cymru and three local authorities in Wales (Ynys Mon, 

Carmarthenshire and Rhondda Cynon Taf), Getting Ready seeks to 

support young people as they prepare to leave the care system, with 

a focus on considerations around delaying leaving care and 

reducing the risk of homelessness and housing instability. 

MyST 

MyST (My Support Team) is a multiagency partnership working to 

help children who are looked after to remain in their local 

communities. It works seamlessly across statutory agencies to 

provide an effective alternative to residential care for children who 

are looked after with highly complex needs. MyST is commissioned 

by the Gwent Children and Families Partnership Board. This service 

is already established in Torfaen and Caerphilly and will be regional 

across all of Gwent by 2021. 

They are included in this report due to their focus on a multi-agency 

approach, which connects all elements of what 

they refer to as a child’s ‘ecosystem’. 

 

Page 71

https://www.barnardos.org.uk/sites/default/files/uploads/Care%20leavers%20accommodation%20and%20support%20framework%20for%20Wales%20October%202016%20%28PDF%29.pdf


Passionate about public service 

Housing for Care Experienced Children & Young People (16-25) 

 

  
7 

Joint working and joint commissioning in BCBC 

Two self-assessments were carried out in a workshop with managers across housing and 

social care in relation to joint working and joint commissioning.  The following actions are 

proposed from the self-assessments and merged with relevant actions proposed previously 

in relation to a BCBC protocol for homeless 16/17 year olds: 

 

Action Plan 
 

Area for action Actions 

Corporate outcomes 

 Develop a corporate parenting strategy that 

explicitly outlines how BCBC will plan for 

future accommodation needs for care-

experienced CYP 

 Put in place a learning and development 

plan to support to include all key partners to 

ensure strategy is understood at both 

strategic and practice levels 

Commissioning 

 Develop a joint commissioning strategy 

between housing and social care 

 Map existing accommodation/costs/criteria 

for accessing - to inform the strategy 

 Ensure good information flow and proactive 

information from social services for CYP in 

care with more complex challenges 

 Develop a coherent joint move-on strategy  

 Ensure development priorities are aligned 

and complementary 

 Ensure flexibility in funding arrangements 

 Ensure youth offending teams are involved 

in commissioning and planning for CYP 

being released - around short-term 

accommodation options 

Page 72



Passionate about public service 

Housing for Care Experienced Children & Young People (16-25) 

 

  
8 

Area for action Actions 

Joint working 

 A joint protocol needs to be established for 

care leavers, building on the existing 

protocol for 16-17 year olds in BCBC. 

 Joint assessments should be timely and 

collaborative 

 Re-establishment of a proactive multi-

agency panel that focuses on care 

experienced young people with more 

complex situations 

Projecting need  Agree a corporate suite of data that 

provides an intelligent projection of future 

needs  

 An information, advice and accommodation 

pathway for looked after young people aged 

14+ should be considered 

The experience for young people 

 Ensure all services that CYP access are 

psychologically informed – to include 

locations, buildings and practice across 

housing and social care 

 Consider developing a separate physical 

hub for young people presenting as 

homeless  

 Develop a proactive programme of 

prevention and early intervention for young 

people at risk of homelessness.   The 

following activities should be streamlined: 

 Pre-crisis education  

 Early advice 

 
Appendix 1:  Care Leavers accommodation and support 
framework 

Page 73



Passionate about public service 

Housing for Care Experienced Children & Young People (16-25) 

 

  
9 

 

 

 
 

  
 
  

Page 74


	Agenda
	3 Cymeradwyaeth Cofnodion
	4 Diweddariad Ar Ailfodelu Gwasanaethau Preswyl Plant A Gwasanaeth Maethu Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr
	5 Adroddiad Gwasanaeth Adolygu Annibynnol (IRO)
	02.03.22. - Appendix 1 - IRO Annual Report 2020-2021

	6 Tai ar gyfer Plant a Phobl Ifanc sydd wedi Profiad o Ofal
	02.03.22 - Accommodation support for care experienced young people Appendix A


